PENSION BOARD
10.00 am
WEDNESDAY
28 JULY 2021

REMOTE MEETING PAPERS

PENSION BOARD
TIME:

10.00 am

DATE:

Wednesday 28 July 2021

VENUE:

Remote Meeting
AGENDA

ITEM

TOPIC

CONTACT

1.

Apologies

Andrea Griffiths

2.

Minutes of the Previous Pension Board (Pages 1 - 6)
The Board is asked to approve the minutes of the previous
meeting.

Andrea Griffiths

3.

Pension Committee Draft Minutes (Pages 7 - 12)
The Committee is asked to note the minutes of the previous
meeting.

Andrea Griffiths

4.

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1 (Pages 13 - 34)
The Board is asked to note the report.

Matthew Trebilco

5.

Risk Register (Pages 35 - 50)
The Board is asked to note the risk register and the changes
agreed by Committee.

Matthew Trebilcock

6.

Board Annual Report 2020-21 (Pages 51 - 54)
The Board is asked to provide any feedback on the draft Annual
Report, and approve the Board Annual Report 2020-21.

Matthew Trebilcock

7.

Governance Review (Pages 55 - 126)
The Board is referred to the report recommendation.

Matthew Trebilcock

8.

Exclusion of the Press and Public

Matthew Trebilcock

Resolved
That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local
Government Act 1972 the public be excluded from the meeting for
the following agenda items, because it is likely that if members of
the public were present there would be disclosure to them of
exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of

Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the
information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the
information to the public.
9.

Exempt Minutes Pension Board (Pages 127 - 132)
The Board is asked to approve the exempt minutes from the
previous meeting.

Andrea Griffiths

10.

Exempt Pension Committee Draft Minutes (Pages 133 - 142)
The Board is asked to note the draft exempt Pension Committee
minutes from the previous meeting.

Andrea Griffiths

11.

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 2 (Pages 143 146)
The Board is asked to note the report.

Matthew Trebilcock

NOTES
(a)

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the
Monitoring
Officer:
Rob
Ayliffe
01452
328506/e-mail:
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the meeting.

Published Date Not Specified

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2
PENSION BOARD
MINUTES of the meeting of the Pension Board held on Tuesday 9 March 2021
commencing at 1.00 pm at the .
PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:
John Abbott
Annette Benson
Sean Collins
Hunt
1.

Jones
Cllr Nigel Moor
Jon Topping

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS PENSION BOARD
The minutes of the meeting held on the 22nd October 2020 were approved as a
correct record.
Cllr Moor referred the Board to page 6 of minutes, the final paragraph, relating to
Gloucestershire’s Infrastructure and advised the Board that GCC Cabinet would be
considering a report at it’s March meeting relating to Infrastructure improvements in
Gloucestershire.
Resolved
That the public minutes of the meeting held on the 22nd October 2020 be
approved as a correct record.

2.

PENSION COMMITTEE MINUTES
Resolved
That the Board noted the Pension Committee minutes of the 4th December
2020 and the 29th January 2021.

3.

ANNUAL REPORT
The Board received the Pension Fund Annual report, it was noted that in
accordance with the regulations the Annual Report had been published on the
website on the 1st December 2020.
It was noted that the external auditors had certified that the Pension Fund Accounts
gave a true and fair view of the financial transactions of the Fund.
Resolved
That the Board noted the Annual Report.

-1-

Page 1

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

4.

GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND UPDATE - PART 1
The Head of Pensions presented an overview of market valuations and an update
on the performance of the Fund, as at 31 December 2020.
The Board noted that by the end of the quarter the market value had increased by
£193.4m in the quarter, to £2.842bn, which is back above pre-Covid levels. It was
reported that performance for the fund for the quarter was 7.2%, and the
benchmark was 6.4%, therefore the fund had outperformed the benchmark by
0.8%. It was noted that Appendix 1 provided the full performance figures.
Appendix 2 on page 35 detailed the strategic asset allocation of the Fund as at the
end of December 2020. The Board were advised that the Committee had approved
a new strategic asset allocation at its January 2021 meeting, however these
changes were not reflected in this analysis.
The Board noted that Pages 25 to 28 of the report gave an overview of the voting
statistics and the engagement that Hermes EOS actually undertook with companies
on the Funds behalf. It was noted that they had engaged with 368 companies in
the quarter, over a range of issues, including ESG related matters. The Board were
pleased to note that the Fund was currently in a very healthy position at 106.9%
funded at the quarter end.
The Head of Pensions referred the Board to page 29 of the report, which gave an
update on the administration performance. It was recognised that the Covid
pandemic had obviously impacted on working practices, however the Pensions
Administration Team were still performing well. In terms of the targets there was a
slight reduction in some of the activities in terms of the number of estimates and
number of leavers but this was an effect of the pandemic situation. The Head of
Pensions anticipated numbers would increase when organisations return to normal.
Board Members recognised the efforts the Administration Team were making in the
current situation by adapting their working practices and felt they should be
commended for their efforts, given the year on year improvement.
The Board were notified that the 95k Cap had been revoked by Government at this
point in time. It was noted that the Government still intended to apply a cap on exit
payments and it was anticipated that new regulations would come forward in the
summer of 2021.
The Chairman recapped for the benefit on those watching the You Tube footage
that the role of the Board was to scrutinise the work of the Committee.
The Board welcomed the new report format and thanked the Head of the Pension
Fund and his team for making the report more accessible but requested more
clarity in terms of the graphs and voting statistics.
In terms of voting, officers explained that the majority of votes against or abstaining
referred to resolutions like board structure and executive remuneration, etc. In
response to a question, it was

-2-

Page 2

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

explained that it related to direct communication with members of the board and the
senior management team, in addition discussions were followed up with
correspondence. In essence it was activity outside of the Annual General Meeting
(AGM) and would be a meeting with an agenda including areas of concern.
Resolved
That the Committee noted the market value and quarterly performance of the
Gloucestershire Pension Fund as at 31 December 2020.
5.

RISK REGISTER
The Head of Pensions explained that the risk register was a live document and
therefore it was important for it to reflect the discussion carried out by the
Committee. A number of changes had been made, these were highlighted in yellow
and the new narrative was shown in bold red. It was noted that the Committee had
approved the Risk Register at its March Meeting.
The Board requested that the Risk Register be shared with them on a more regular
basis, so they could monitor the evolving situation in terms of risk.
In response to a question, it was confirmed that the residual risk rating for F6 had
also been increased, as this related to pay and inflation exposure. The Head of
Pensions explained that inflation exposure was one of the greatest risks that the
Fund faced.
Resolved
That the Board noted the risk register and the recommendations as approved
by the Pension Committee: the increase and proposed review in relation to F6
and the reduction in residual risk ratings for risks F1, F2 & F4 and the
continued increased position relating to residual risk ratings for risks G5, A/R
1.1 & 1.2.

6.

REGULATORY STATEMENTS
The Head of Pensions presented the report in detail. Board Members were advised
that the main proposed revisions to the Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) were
based on the new Employer discretions that had been introduced and must be
captured to enable the Fund and Employers to utilise these discretions. The new
regulations now gave more flexibility for the Fund moving forward.
In response to a question, the FSS was part of a suite of policy statements which
the fund was required to have and took account of ESG for long term investment
stability.
Resolved

-3-

Page 3

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

That the Board noted the Funding Strategy Statement and the Investment
Strategy Statement.
7.

TRAINING STRATEGY
The Head of Pensions explained that the training strategy had been developed in
conjunction with the Actuary, Hymans Robertson to ensure that good practice had
been identified and incorporated into the strategy.
The Head of Pensions explained that the aim of the strategy was to look at multiple
ways of delivering training both internally and externally. The Board felt it was a
positive step to put a training strategy in place, especially with a new council being
elected in May 2021. Board Members felt that periodic refresher training would also
be beneficial for all members and fully endorsed the report.
The Board welcomed the opportunity to have greater interaction with the Pension
Committee and Officers. It was agreed that Board Members would be invited to the
Pension Committee training session which was being arranged for newly elected
members in May 2021.
In addition, it was suggested that perhaps joint training sessions with the Pension
Committee could be held before the formal meeting and embraced the opportunity
to train.
The Head of Pensions advised the Board that he would in conjunction with the
Hymans Robertson undertake a review of individual training needs once the
strategy had been formally adopted.
Resolved
That the Board fully endorsed the training strategy and noted the associated
training plan.

8.

GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND BUSINESS PLAN 2021/22
The Head of Pensions presented the report in detail and it was noted that a work
plan would now be developed for the Board, to reflect activities at a high level.
The Board commended the Pensions team on their efforts, it was evident that a
huge amount of work was being undertaken in order to give a clear direction of
travel going forward.
Resolved
That the Board noted the Business Plan for 2021/22 and noted the current
outturn position of the 2020/21.

-4-

Page 4

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

That a work plan be established for the Board to support activities contained
in the Business Plan for 2021/22.
9.

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
Resolved
That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following agenda items,
because it is likely that if members of the public were present there would be
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1
of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the
information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the
public.

10.

EXEMPT PENSION COMMITTEE MINUTES
Resolved
That the Board noted the exempt Pension Committee minutes of the 4th
December 2020 and the 29th January 2021.

11.

GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND UPDATE - PART 2
The Head of Pensions presented the report and gave an overview of market
valuations and an update on the performance of the Fund, as at 31st December
2020.
Resolved
That the Board noted the market value and quarterly performance of the
Gloucestershire Pension Fund as at 31st December 2020.

CHAIRPERSON
Meeting concluded at 2.43 pm

-5-

Page 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3

PENSION COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Pension Committee held on Friday 18 June 2021
commencing at 10.00 am.
PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:
Cllr Matt Babbage
Cllr Mark MackenzieCharrington
Cllr Alan Preest
Cllr Wendy Thomas
Cllr Colin Hay
In Attendance:

1.

Cllr Lynden Stowe
Cllr David Brown
Peter Clark
Cllr David Gray

Matthew Trebilcock (Head of Pensions), Paul Blacker (Director of
Finance), John Arthur (Independent Adviser), Thanos Papasavvas
(Independent Adviser: MJ Hudson) Julie West (Hymans) Daniel
Kanaris (AON), Scott Campbell (AON) and Andrea Griffiths (DSU).

APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRPERSON
Resolved
That Cllr Stowe was duly elected as Chairperson for the ensuing civic year.

2.

APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIRPERSON
Resolved
That Cllr Babbage was duly elected as Vice Chairperson for the ensuing civic
year.

3.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST The following declarations of interest were made:
Cllr Stowe declared he was GCC Representative on UBICO
Cllr Brown declared he was a member of Gloucester City Council
Cllr Babbage declared he was a member of Cheltenham Borough Council
Cllr Gray declared he member of Tewkesbury Borough Council
Cllr Preest declared he was a member of Forest of Dean District Council
Cllr Mackenzie-Charrington declared he was a member of Little Rissington
Parish Council

-1-

Page 7

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

4.

Cllr Thomas declared she was a member of Dursley Town Council.

PUBLIC QUESTIONS No Public questions were received.

5.

MEMBERS' QUESTIONS No Members’ questions were received.

6.

MINUTES Resolved
That the public minutes of the meeting held on the 5th March 2021 be
approved as a correct record.

7.

GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND QUARTERLY UPDATE - PART 1
The Head of Pensions presented an overview of market valuations and an update
on the performance of the Fund, as at 31 March 2021.
Members noted that by the end of the quarter the market value had increased by
£55.378m, to £2.898bn. It was reported that performance for the fund over three
years to March 2021 was 7.6%, and was slightly behind the benchmark by 0.2%.
Members were advised that the last twelve months provided a return of 3.5% ahead
of the benchmark of 26.6%.
In response to a question, members were advised that Officers were monitoring
Brunel’s performance over a longer period, as a three year period gave a true
reflection of performance. It was noted that Brunel was still relatively early in its
performance history but Officers would continue to closely monitor the situation.
During the discussion, it was noted that the picture quality of the voting record was
difficult to read. Members requested a future training session on benchmarks and
performance.
The Chairman referred to the £16m quarterly under performance by Brunel Pension
Partnership (Brunel) and requested the Head of Pensions advice Brunel that it
would be closely monitored by the Committee.
In response to a question, it was explained that the Fund partake in a performance
benchmarking exercise against other Local Authorities funds. The Head of Pension
advised Members once the data was available it would be presented to Committee.
It was noted that although useful as a comparison, this benchmarking needs to be
reviewed in the context of what the Gloucestershire Pension Fund is looking to
deliver based upon its Funds demographics, membership profile, liability, etc, which
will be different to the other Funds being benchmarked.

-2-

Page 8

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

The Independent Advisor informed Members that Pensions & Investments
Research Consultants (PIRC) provide this benchmarking analysis for the Fund. The
draft report received recognised the Gloucestershire’s fund was performing at 7.7%
(37th) and over a ten year period its return was 8.5% (36th), which meant
Gloucestershire’s performance was in the top third of the Funds that partake in the
benchmarking. Members requested in the future this information be reported to
Committee on an annual basis.
In response to a question, it was explained that the majority of investments,
approximately 98%, were now managed by Brunel with the exception of the legacy
private debt and private equity investments. The Head of Pensions explained
specific investment issues would be discussed in more detail at agenda item 13
during the exempt session.
The Committee noted the administration performance of the fund had decreased
due to Covid. The Head of Pensions told the Committee there were a number of
issues staff had faced during the pandemic but overall the administration team were
doing a sterling job in challenging times. It was recognised that the payment of
member’s benefits, such as retirements and death grants had been given priority
and there were currently remain challenges to recruiting and the training of staff.
Some members felt the Brunel outcomes report was exceptionally long and should
be more succinct and tailored to Gloucestershire’s situation. Members were
advised that the Fund had committed itself to the Brunel responsible investment
policy.
The Committee discussed carbon emissions and disclosure rates in detail and
referred to the chart on page 40 and page 43 of the report. Members felt that
Brunel should be more specific and address the issues of engagement. The
Independent Advisor explained that there was a dilemma involving engagement as
if one disinvested, and then someone else takes the opportunity to invest. The
Committee requested further feedback from Brunel.
The Committee were advised that the Fund was in a positive funded position at the
quarter end.
Julie West, Hymans Actuary gave a detailed explanation of the funding position
calculation. Members were informed that the funding position had improved since
the formal valuation, liabilities had grown as the Actuary would expect with the
accrual of new benefits. The Actuary reminded the Committee that it was worth
noting that this was very much a snapshot in time and in effect a backward looking
position. Members felt the fund was in an encouraging position.
Resolved
That the Committee noted the market value and quarterly performance of the
Gloucestershire Pension Fund as at 31 March 2021.
8.

RISK REGISTER
-3-

Page 9

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

The Head of Pensions explained that the risk register was a live document and
therefore it was important for it to reflect the discussion carried out by the
Committee.
Members were informed that since the risk register was last considered by the
Pension Committee in March 2021, there had been no substantial movement in the
overall risk levels faced by the fund.
Resolved
That the Committee noted the risk register.
9.

GOVERNANCE REVIEW
The Head of Pensions referred the Committee to the recommendations on page 97
of the report.
Daniel Kanaris (AON) presented the report in detail and advised the Committee that
it was a question of how things got done, policies, practices, etc. AON had
undertaken the review and had made comparisons against National best practice,
AON governance framework and other LGPS in order to highlight areas that require
improvement.
It was noted that AON Officers had previously observed the Pension Committee,
Pension Board and had undertaken in-depth discussions with the Head of
Pensions.
During the discussion it was noted that the Pension Committee should be nonpolitical and it was evident that all members’ opinions were valued. AON
recognised that the Pension Committee was required to have the right level of
separation from the Council, they felt that there should be a separate conflict of
interest policy moving forward.
The Employee representative welcomed the report and felt that governance and
administration arrangements had improved. Members welcomed the review and
concurred the Fund should have appropriate separation and a separate identity
from the Council to reflect the constituent parts of the Fund as a whole.
It was explained that the scheme of delegation was at a high level and needed to
be more transparent and specific.
At this point during the discussion it was noted that there was no further feedback in
accordance with recommendation one.
Members received a potential structure presentation from AON. In response to a
question, the Head of Pensions explained that any changes to the committee
structure would have to be approved by the Constitution Committee. The Chair
remarked that it was not reasonable to expect new members to approve the
-4-

Page 10

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

recommendations at this stage and more time was required to consider the
structure proposals to allow an informed decision to be made. The Chair requested
a report that dealt specifically with the reformation of the Committee and the
membership of the Pension Board be presented to the September Committee
meeting.
It was suggested that the terms of office for individuals also required consideration,
as the recruitment of co-opted members had its own challenges. Some members
felt that it was necessary to avoid a large membership, as this often became fraught
with its own challenges and could prove to be dysfunctional. The Chair noted that
Peter Clarke as the Employee representative on the Committee had been a long
serving member of the Committee and was diligent in his role.
Resolved
That a report be presented to the September Committee meeting for further
consideration before a recommendation can be made to the Constitution
Committee.
10.

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
Resolved
That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following agenda items,
because it is likely that if members of the public were present there would be
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1
of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the
information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the
public.
At this juncture the Committee took a brief adjournment.
The Committee reconvened at 12:10pm.

11.

EXEMPT MINUTES
Resolved
That the exempt minutes of the meeting held on the 5th March 2021 be
approved as a correct record.

12.

GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND QUARTERLY UPDATE - PART 2
The Head of Pensions presented the report in conjunction with the Independent
Adviser and gave an overview of market valuations and an update on the
performance of the Fund, as at 31st March 2021.
Resolved
-5-

Page 11

Minutes subject to their acceptance as a
correct record at the next meeting

That the Committee noted the market value and quarterly performance of the
Gloucestershire Pension Fund as at 31st March 2021.

CHAIRMAN
Meeting concluded at 1.00 pm

-6-

Page 12

Agenda Item 4
Agenda Item 4
Pension Board
28 July 2021
Gloucestershire Pension Fund update – Part 1
Quarter ending 31 March 2021
Report of the Head of Pensions
Summary
This report summarises the Fund’s funding position, market value, asset allocation,
investment and administration performance for the quarter ending 31 March 2021.
The information contained in this report was taken to the Pensions Committee on 18 June
and fulfils the requirement for administering authorities, under the Local Government
Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 to keep under
review the performance of their investment managers.

Funding position
The past service position of the Fund has improved since 31 March 2019. This can be
considered in two ways:
•

Based on a level of investment return of 4.1%, the fund currently has sufficient assets
to pay all accrued benefits. The amount of additional assets has increased from £41m
to £409m; or

•

The investment return required to have sufficient assets to pay all accrued benefits
without further payments has decreased from 4.1% to 3.2%. The likelihood of
achieving the required return has increased from 71% to 80%.

However, prudent expectations of future investment returns have fallen from 4.2% to 4.1%
based on the Fund’s current investment strategy (and a 70% likelihood of success). This will
increase the cost of providing benefits that continue to be earned in the future.
A detailed update on the funding position as at 31 March 2021, prepared by the Funds
actuary, Hymans Robertson is attached as Appendix 1 to this report.

Page 13

Agenda Item 4
Fund Performance
Over the quarter to 31 March 2021, the Fund’s total market value increased by £55.378m,
to £2,898.248m.
Over the quarter, total Fund assets produced a positive return of 1.9%, compared to a
target of 2.3%, underperforming the strategic benchmark by 0.4%.
Performance over the 3 years to 31 March 2021 was 7.6% slightly behind the benchmark
by 0.2%, with the last 12 months providing a return 3.5% ahead of the benchmark of 26.6%
A detailed investment performance report is attached as Appendix 2 to this report.

Investment Strategy and Activities
Strategic asset allocation reflects the new strategy to be implemented as part of the
Investment Strategy Review (approved April 2020); as a result, a number of asset classes will
be underweight or overweight for an interim period until the portfolio is fully constructed.
A detailed asset allocation report is attached as Appendix 3 to this report.
During the Quarter the following investment activity took place:
•

Rebalancing of the Strategic Asset Allocation by reducing the allocation to the
Brunel Global High Alpha portfolio by £135m to bring the portfolio to within its
target allocation range, with the proceeds being allocated into the Diversified Risk
Fund, awaiting future drawdown for the private markets allocations. The cost of this
rebalancing was £364k, equivalent to 27bps of the value of the transaction.

•

Strategic Asset Allocation change of transitioning £168m from the LGIM Developed Equity
Passive allocation to the Global Sustainable Portfolio to bring the portfolio towards its
target allocation. The cost of this transition was £168k, equivalent to 10bps of the value of
the transition.

•

Top up allocation to Brunel Private Markets portfolios to achieve strategic asset
allocation targets, based upon anticipated cashflows:
o Private Equity
£10m
o Private Debt
£40m
o Infrastructure
£50m

Page 14

Agenda Item 4
Fund Administration
The Pensions Administration Team to effectively continue to administer the Fund and pay
accurate benefits in a timely manner, whilst retaining robust checking and authorisation
processes, have maintained an office presence throughout the pandemic. In order to deliver
the key services whilst protecting the health of staff, the decision was taken from the outset
to divide the Pension Administration team into two sub teams. These teams work on a
rotational basis of one week in the office, followed by one week working at home.
Under this arrangement the management and staff of the pension administration section
have worked through the different tasks and workloads of the section, dividing them into
those that can be completed effectively and securely from home, and those that require an
office presence for effective delivery.
An additional step that was implemented from the outset, to further improve staff safety,
was to separate the “in office” team across the office space of not only the Pensions Section,
but also of a neighbouring vacant office. This has delivered an effective service whilst also
ensuring substantial “social distancing” from the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic.
It must be recognised that these current working practises are enforced due to the
pandemic and have impacted on operational delivery. However, the steps undertaken have
mitigated the impact on the service delivery. We will continue to monitor the balance
between service delivery and staff safety as further restrictions are lifted. The current
performance figures are below.

Table 1 – Summary Performance
Service

Target

2017/18
(Actual)

2018/19
(Actual)

2019/20
(Actual)

2020/21 to
31/03/2021

Estimates to employees
(15 days)

90%

85%

96%

98%

90%

Retirements and lump
sums (15 days)

90%

75%

69%

61%

80%

Refunds Paid (15 days)

90%

96%

98%

99%

93%

Death Grants Paid (8 days)

90%

74%

82%

67%

70%

Annual Benefits
Statements issued within
the statutory deadline

100%

100% see
note 1

100% see
note 1

100% see
note 1

100% see
note 1

“Transfers Out” Paid (15
days)

90%

92%

98%

99%

97%

Page 15

Agenda Item 4
Table 2 – 2020/21 Performance to 31 March 2021
Service
Standards –
Processing
tasks within
internal targets

Estimates to
employees (15
days)
Retirements
and lump sums
(15 days)
Refunds Paid
(15 days)
Death Grants
Paid (8 days)
2020/21
Annual Benefits
Statements
issued within
the statutory
deadline
“Transfers Out”
Paid (15 days)

Target
Achievement

No.
Processed

No.
processed
on time

Actual
achievement

Average
days taken
(averaging
all cases)

90%

534

482

90%

9

90%

872

701

80%

12

19

90%

424

395

93%

10

20

90%

89

62

70%

10

17

100%

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

100% see
note 1

90%

136

132

97%

6

22

Page 16

Average
days taken
(averaging
cases
exceeding
target
ONLY)
not
available

Agenda Item 4
Table 3 – 2019/20 Performance (full year)
Service
Standards –
Processing
tasks within
internal
targets
Estimates to
employees
(15 days)
Retirements
and
lump
sums
(15
days)
Refunds Paid
(15 days)
Death Grants
Paid (8 days)
2019/20
Annual
Benefits
Statements
issued within
the statutory
deadline
“Transfers
Out” Paid (15
days)

Target
Achievement

No.
Processed

No.
processed
on time

Actual %
achievement

Average
days
taken
(averaging
all cases)

90%

739

724

98%

8

Average days
taken
(averaging
cases
exceeding
target ONLY)
not available

90%

983

603

61%

13

19

90%

649

641

99%

7

23

90%

76

51

67%

7

10

100%

34434 see
note 1

34434 see
note 1

100%

N/A

N/A

90%

194

192

99%

4

16

Target
Achievement
%
90%

No.
Processed

Actual
%
achievement

615

No.
processed
on time
587

96%

Average
days
taken
7

90%

858

592

69%

13

90%
90%
100%

620
79
34,617
note 1

609
65
34,617
note 1

98%
82%
100%
note 1

7
7
N/A

90%

147

Table 4 - 2018/19 Performance (full year)
Service
Standards
–
Processing
tasks
within
internal targets
Estimates to employees (15
days)
Retirements and lump sums
(15 days)
Refunds Paid (15 days)
Death Grants Paid (8 days)
2017/18 Annual Benefits
Statements issued within the
statutory deadline
“Transfers Out” Paid (15 days)

Page 17

see

144

see

98

see

5

Agenda Item 4
Table 5- 2017/18 Performance (full year)
Service
Standards
–
Target
No.
No.
Actual
%
Processing
tasks
within
Achievement
Processed
processed
achievement
internal targets
%
on time
Estimates to employees (15
90%
571
485
85%
days)
Retirements and lump sums
90%
768
575
75%
(15 days)
Refunds Paid (15 days)
90%
448
429
96%
Death Grants Paid (8 days)
90%
61
45
74%
2016/17 Annual Benefits
100%
31,190 see
31,190 see
100%
see
Statements issued within the
note 1
note 1
note 1
statutory deadline
“Transfers Out” Paid (15 days)
90%
132
122
92%
Note 1 - Regarding Annual Benefits Statements, all of the year end returns from all employers were received by
the Administration Team within the statutory deadline. All returns were matched to the member records held
within the Administration team, and where a definitive match was made, 100% of the Annual Benefit
Statements were distributed to active and deferred members by the statutory deadline.

Business Plan 2021/22
The following is an update on the Pensions Committee Key Tasks/Work Plan which formed
part of the agreed business plan for 2021/22.
Comments on each topic are contained within the table. For the amber items, this
represents that these activities are yet to commence, but these activities are scheduled to
take place over multiple quarters:

Governance
Task

2021/22
Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Review of Risk Register

✓completed

✓

✓

✓

Approval of External Audit Plan

✓completed
✓

✓

✓

Implement outcomes of the Funds
Governance Review
Review and approve Business Plan

✓

Annual review against The Pensions
Regulators Code of Practise

✓

Approval of audited Fund accounts

✓

Approval of Annual Report

✓

Page 18

Average
days
taken
10
11
6
7
N/A

7

Agenda Item 4
✓

Review Policy Statements
Training Needs Analysis

✓

✓

✓ - launched
and ongoing

Funding
Task

Review of ongoing funding position

2021/22
Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

✓ - completed

✓

✓

✓

✓

Cash flow modelling

Investment Management
Task

Monitor Fund performance
Responsible Investment Reporting

2021/22
Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

✓completed

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

Asset transitions to Brunel Portfolios

✓completed

Review the inflation exposure on the
Fund and implemented agreed
recommendations

✓

Review the Funds Investment Strategy
Statement

✓

Procure consultancy support in
preparation for the next full strategic
review in 2022/23

✓

Review the Funds Responsible
Investment Policy
Review the recommendations of the
Taskforce for Climate-related Financial
Disclosure (TCFD) and requirements for
UK Stewardship code signatory status

✓

Page 19

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

Agenda Item 4
Administration
Task

2021/22
Q1

Q2

Q4

✓

✓

✓

Issue Annual Benefit Statements to active
and deferred members
P60’s distributed to pensioner members

Q3

✓ completed

Recruitment of agreed additional
resources

✓ - ongoing

Annual pension in payment and CARE
accrual increase exercise

✓ - pension in
payment
completed,
Care accrual
ongoing

✓

✓

Annual submission of HMRC Event report
✓

Issue notices to employees for breaches
of HMRC Annual Allowance limits
Provision of data to actuary to produce
financial accounting required for
employer accounts
Reconciliation of membership data for all
employers

✓ completed

✓

✓ - ongoing

✓
✓

Review and correct data errors
Process and reconcile membership pay
and contribution data for year end

✓ - ongoing

✓
✓

✓
✓

Data quality assessment for the Pensions
Regulator
Possible implementation of McCloud
judgement

✓

✓

Possible implementation of revised 95k
cap regulations

Recommendation
That the Board notes the report.

Contact Officer
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920)

Page 20

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

Update on funding position as at 31 March 2021
Purpose and scope
This paper has been commissioned by and is addressed to Gloucestershire County Council as Administering
Authority of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund (“the Fund”).
Its purpose is to support the Fund’s Pension Committee (“the Committee”) in understanding and monitoring the
Fund’s liabilities between formal valuations.
Key results
•

•

The past service position of the Fund has improved since 31 March 2019. This can be considered in two
ways:
o

Based on a level of investment return of 4.1%, the fund currently has sufficient assets to pay all accrued
benefits. The amount of additional assets has increased from £41m to £409m; or

o

The investment return required to have sufficient assets to pay all accrued benefits without further
payments has decreased from 4.1% to 3.2%. The likelihood of achieving the required return has
increased from 71% to 80%.

However, prudent expectations of future investment returns have fallen from 4.2% to 4.1% based on the
Fund’s current investment strategy (and a 70% likelihood of success). This will increase the cost of providing
benefits that continue to be earned in the future.

The Fund and Committee should continue to monitor the position prior to the next formal valuation.
Results in this paper are in respect of the Fund as a whole. At the next formal valuation, the results for individual
employers will be assessed and these may be materially different to the whole fund. Therefore the impact on
contributions shown above should not be used for budgeting purposes by any of the Fund’s employers.
Information regarding the data, assumptions, methodology and funding risks associated with the results in this
paper are contained in the Appendix.
Useful Definitions
The Fund’s liabilities: The future benefit payments due to members expressed as a single value (with an
allowance for future expected investment returns).
Past service liabilities: Refers to benefit payments due in respect of service accrued up to today.
Future service liabilities: Refers to benefit payments that will be earned in respect of service after today.
Assets: the money held to meet benefit payments (which is built up by contributions from employees and
employers, and investment returns earned).
Funding level: A comparison of the past service liabilities and the assets held to meet those liabilities.

June 2021

001

Page 21

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

Past service liabilities
The chart shows the projected payments due to all members in respect of service earned up to 31 March 2021.
The projected benefit payments are based on the membership data and the financial and demographic
assumptions used for the 2019 formal valuation.
Chart 1

• Actives: those members who are still participating in the Fund and accruing service
• Deferreds: those members who are no longer contributing to the Fund but are yet to retire
• Pensioners: those members currently in receipt of their benefits
Important points to note from the chart are:
•

Currently, the majority of benefit payments are in respect of pensioner members. However, some
benefits are expected to also be paid to members who were deferred and active at the last formal
valuation and have either since retired or some other benefit crystallisation event has taken place e.g.
death-in-service.

•

Over time, the benefit payments will transition from being mostly in respect of pensioners to deferred and
active members (i.e. the pensioners of the future). This is expected as pensioners are older than
deferred and active members and payment of benefits ceases upon death.

•

The timeframe for benefits payable in respect of service accrued up to 31 March 2021 is 80+ years. This
emphasises the long-term nature of the Fund.

What has changed since 2019?
Pension Increase:
•

Assumed Increases in 2019 = 2.3% per annum

•

Actual increase in April 2020 = 1.7%

•

Actual increase in April 2021 = 0.5%

•

New long-term market expectation = 2.3% per annum

June 2021

002

Page 22

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

The impact of this means the Fund is expecting to pay out slightly less benefits than it did at the formal valuation.
The pink line on Chart 2 below shows the total projected annual future benefit payments as at 31 March 2019 (in
line with Chart 1 above).
Technical Note: Government have changed the way RPI is calculated. This doesn’t impact CPI which is the
inflation measure on which LGPS pension increases are based, but the changes in RPI definitions mean it’s more
difficult to assess the market’s expectation of future CPI. We may need to review this assumption at the formal
valuation.
Chart 2

Are current assets sufficient to meet benefits earned to date?
As at 31 March 2021, the Fund’s asset value was £2,902m. One measure of the health of the Fund is considering
how likely it is that the Fund’s assets are sufficient to meet benefit payments earned to date.
We can do this by projecting the value of the Fund’s assets over time, allowing for investment returns to be
earned and benefit payments to be made.
At 31 March 2021 and based on the Fund’s asset allocation, we estimate that the Fund’s assets have a 70%
likelihood of achieving an annual return of at least 4.1% p.a. (at 31 March 2019, the equivalent return was 4.2%).
We have calculated the Fund’s liabilities assuming a 4.1% future investment return.
Chart 3 below details the projected Fund asset value over the next 100 years. Again, the figures are in nominal
terms.

June 2021

003

Page 23

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

Chart 3

Important points to note from the chart are:
It is estimated that the Fund’s assets as at 31 March 2021 will be sufficient to pay all future benefit payments due.
In order to meet all future benefit payments due, the Fund currently:
o

has a surplus of £409m over the assets required as at 31 March 2021 based on a future investment
return of 4.1% p.a. (such that together with investment return there is enough to pay benefits when
they fall due); or

o

requires future investment returns of at least 3.2% p.a. (which we estimate that there is a 80%
likelihood of achieving based on the current allocation) i.e. the Fund is less reliant on future investment
returns than it was at the previous valuation.

The long-term shape of the chart reflects the fact that investment returns are compounded. At later years, when
the projected benefit payment is very small, the compounding of future returns results in the observed exponential
growth. It is important that such growth is very sensitive to small changes in the inputs. Further discussion of this
is included in the Appendix.
How does this compare to 2019?
It is helpful for comparison purposes to consider and compare the level of cash injection and/or required return
between dates to inform whether the Fund is in a more favourable position (or otherwise).
At the 31 March 2019 valuation, the Fund’s assets were sufficient to pay all future benefit payments based on an
assumed investment return of 4.2% p.a.. It was estimated that the Fund would have:
•

a surplus £41m of assets as at 31 March 2019 (based on investment returns of 4.2% p.a.); or would
require

•

future investment returns of at least 4.1% p.a. (which were estimated to be achievable in c.71% of future
outcomes).

Comparing both of these figures to the equivalent as at 31 March 2021, we note that:

June 2021

004

Page 24

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

•

the past service funding surplus has increased from £41m to £409m; and

•

the required investment return to have sufficient assets has fallen from 4.1% p.a. to 3.2% p.a., with a
corresponding increase from 71% to 80% in the likelihood of achieving that return.

The Fund is now more likely to have sufficient assets to meet earned benefit payments than at the
previous valuation.
Chart 4 shows how the funding level varies with the future investment return assumption at 31 March 2021 (green
line). For comparison, we have also shown the results of the same analysis as at 31 March 2019 (blue line).
Along each line we have highlighted points which show the likelihood of the Fund’s assets achieving the
corresponding assumed future investment return. The likelihoods are those that were estimated at the relevant
date i.e. 31 March 2019 or 31 March 2021.
Chart 4

From this chart, we can see that regardless of the investment return assumption used, there has been a genuine
improvement in the funding position at 31 March 2021 compared to the 2019 valuation, reflecting an increase in
assets held today per pound of benefit to be paid out in future.
However, the likelihood of the Fund’s asset achieving a given level of future investment return has also decreased
which will put upwards pressure on the cost of providing benefits in the future.

June 2021

005

Page 25

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

Summary
Chart 5 below combines the liability and asset sides of the funding balance sheet to provide an overall view of the
past service funding position.
Chart 5

As at 31 March 2021, the past service funding position has improved. Despite the slight worsening in long
term future investment return prospects, this is primarily due to good investment returns since 31 March
2019. However, lower expected future investment returns will increase the cost of providing future
service benefits.
The past service position is summarised below with a comparison to the 2019 formal valuation results:
31 March 2019

31 March 2021

Assumed future investment return

4.2%

4.1%

Salary increases

2.6%

2.7%

Pension increases

2.3%

2.3%

Assets

£2,379m

£2,902m

Past service liabilities

£2,338m

£2,493m

Surplus / (Deficit)

£41m

£409m

Funding Level

102%

116%

Investment return required to have
sufficient assets to pay accrued benefits

4.1%

3.2%

Contribution rates will be recalculated at the formal valuation as at 31 March 2022. The funding strategy will also
be reviewed as part of that valuation, where the time horizon and required likelihood of success will be
reassessed for all employers.

June 2021

006

Page 26

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

Action for the Fund
The paper has been provided for information purposes only to help understand how the funding risks have
changed since the last formal valuation when the current funding strategy was agreed. As the objective of the
Fund is to pay benefits to members, it is helpful to be aware if the current assets and contributions are more or
less likely to be sufficient to meet those benefits.
This paper does not seek to propose any changes to the Fund’s funding or investment strategy. Furthermore, the
contribution rate figures quoted should not be taken as suggestions for rates that will payable at the next formal
valuation or advice that contribution rates need to be amended before the next valuation.
Reliances and limitations
This paper has been prepared for Gloucestershire County Council as Administering Authority of the
Gloucestershire Pension Fund for the purpose described above. It has not been prepared for use for any other
purpose and should not be so used. The paper should not be disclosed to any third party except as required by
law or regulatory obligation or with our prior written consent. We accept no liability where the paper is used by or
disclosed to a third party unless we have expressly accepted such liability in writing. Where this is permitted, the
paper may only be released or otherwise disclosed in a complete form which fully discloses our advice and the
basis on which it is given.
The following Technical Actuarial Standards are applicable in relation to this advice, and have been complied with
where material and to a proportionate degree:
TAS100
This report together with the formal valuation report for the Fund (issued March 2020) and the Fund’s Funding
Strategy Statement set out the aggregate of my advice.

Prepared by:-

Julie West FFA
7 June 2021
For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP

June 2021

007

Page 27

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

Appendix
Data
The benefit projections are based on membership data supplied for the 31 March 2019 formal valuation of the
Fund. Further details about the data can be found in the 2019 valuation formal valuation report dated March
2020.
Assumptions and methodology
Liabilities
All demographic and financial assumptions underlying the benefit projections are as per the 31 March 2019
formal valuation with the exception of the future inflation assumption (which affects the rate of future pension
increases, CARE revaluation and salary increases).
Further details about the assumptions can be found in the 2019 valuation formal valuation report dated March
2020.
The future long-term inflation assumption used in the benefit projections as at 31 March 2021 is 2.3% p.a..
Therefore, as at 31 March 2021 we have assumed that:
Future pension increases are 2.3% p.a.
Future CARE pot revaluation is 2.3% p.a.
Future salary increases are 2.6% p.a.
The benefit projections assume that membership experience since 31 March 2019 has been in line with the
assumptions made. At a whole fund level, this assumption is reasonable to make and, for the purpose of this
paper, we do not expect this to result in a material inaccuracy.
We have also allowed for additional benefit accrual between 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2021. This allows
comparison with the Fund’s asset value as at 31 March 2021.
To calculate the updated future service cost, we have used our proprietary Economic Service Scenario (“ESS”)
model, and the same methodology used to set employer contribution rates at the last formal valuation. Further
details about the ESS model, and the calibration of the model as at 31 March 2019, can be found in the 2019
valuation formal report dated March 2020. The contribution rate setting methodology is discussed in Appendix D
of the Fund’s current Funding Strategy Statement (available on the Fund’s website).
The calibration of the model as at 31 March 2021 is detailed below. The following figures have been calculated
using 5,000 simulations of the ESS, calibrated using market data as at 31 March 2021. All returns are shown net
of fees. Percentiles refer to percentiles of the 5,000 simulations and are the annualised total returns over 5, 10
and 20 years, except for the yields which refer to the simulated yields for at that time horizon. Only the overall
Fund portfolio returns are shown, however similar information for separate asset classes is available on request.

June 2021

008

Page 28

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

20
10
5
years years years

Annualised total returns

16th %'ile
50th %'ile
84th %'ile
16th %'ile
50th %'ile
84th %'ile
16th %'ile
50th %'ile
84th %'ile
Volatility (Disp)
(1 yr)

Cash
-0.3%
0.4%
1.2%
0.1%
1.1%
2.3%
0.6%
2.0%
3.6%

Index
Linked
Gilts
(medium)
-3.2%
-0.3%
2.6%
-2.5%
-0.5%
1.6%
-2.0%
-0.3%
1.5%

Fixed
Interest
Gilts
(medium)
-2.5%
0.1%
2.6%
-1.1%
0.3%
1.6%
0.2%
1.0%
1.7%

0%

7%

7%

Overseas
UK Equity
Equity
-3.9%
-3.6%
4.3%
4.4%
12.3%
12.4%
-0.9%
-1.0%
4.8%
5.0%
10.7%
10.9%
1.4%
1.3%
5.8%
5.8%
10.4%
10.3%
17%

17%

CorpMedi
Property
um A
-3.5%
-2.8%
2.5%
0.1%
8.8%
2.8%
-1.3%
-1.0%
3.2%
0.6%
8.0%
2.1%
0.8%
0.5%
4.2%
1.6%
8.1%
2.5%
14%

8%

Inflation
(RPI)
2.0%
3.6%
5.2%
1.9%
3.5%
5.2%
1.2%
2.8%
4.4%

17 year
real yield
(RPI)
-2.4%
-1.6%
-0.7%
-1.8%
-0.5%
0.7%
-0.7%
1.0%
2.7%

17 year
yield
0.8%
1.9%
3.1%
1.0%
2.4%
4.1%
1.3%
3.2%
5.7%

1%

The current calibration of the model indicates that a period of outward yield movement is expected. For example,
over the next 20 years our model expects the 17 year maturity annualised real (nominal) interest rate to rise from
-2.3% (1.3%) to 1.0% (3.2%).
Assets
The asset value as at 31 March 2021 has been provided by the Administering Authority.
The return on assets since the last formal valuation has been 18.8%.
To derive the level of likelihood associated with certain level of expected future returns, we have used the ESS
model as described above and the Fund’s current strategic asset allocation:

% allocation
UK equities

19%

Overseas equities

40%

Infrastructure

4%

Private equity

5%

Total growth assets

68%

Index-linked gilts

0%

Fixed interest gilts

0%

High yields bonds

17%

Total protection assets

17%

Multi-asset Credit

7%

Property

8%

Total income assets

15%

Model limitations
The models used to calculate the results in the paper make some necessary simplifying assumptions. I do not
consider these simplifications to be material and I am satisfied that they are appropriate for the purposes
described in this report.

June 2021

009

Page 29

Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP

Sensitivity of results
The results in this report are dependent on a number of factors including the membership details, current financial
conditions, the outlook for future financial conditions and demographic trends such as longevity. Changes in each
of these factors can have a material impact on the results. I have not sought to quantify the impact of differences
in the above because of the complex interactions between them. If further information about the sensitivity of the
results to different data or assumptions is required, this can be provided on request.
Funding Risks
Please see the FSS for details of the funding risks that apply to the future ability of the Fund to pay all members’
benefits. These include, but are not limited to:
•

Market risks – these include investment returns being less than anticipated or liabilities increasing more
than expected due to changes in market conditions underlying the financial assumptions (e.g. inflation or
pay increases above that assumed etc.).

•

Demographic risks – these include anything that affects the timing or type of benefits (e.g. members living
longer than anticipated, fewer members opting into the 50/50 option, etc.).

•

Regulatory risks – the LGPS is a statutory scheme. There is a risk that central Government legislation
could significantly change the cost of the scheme in future.
In particular, the benefit structure of the LGPS is currently under review as a result of the
consultation on the McCloud and Sargeant judgement, HM Treasury’s and Scheme Advisory
Board’s cost-sharing valuations as well as the recent outcome of the Goodwin tribunal. Benefit
changes as a result of these issues may materially affect the value of benefits earned by members
both in the past and future. I have made no direct allowance for these changes and may need to
review my calculations once the outcomes are known.

•

Administration and Governance risks – failures in administration processes can lead to incorrect actuarial
calculations. For example, where membership data is not up to date (e.g. leaver forms not being submitted
in a timely matter) material inaccuracies in respect of the level of deficit and contributions may occur at
future valuations.

•

Resource and Environmental risks – i.e. risks relating to potential resource constraints and environmental
changes, and their impact on Fund employers and investments: such risks exist and may prove to be
material. Given the lack of relevant quantitative information available specifically relevant to the Fund, I
have not explicitly incorporated such risks in this advice. The Administering Authority may wish to seek
direct advice on these risks.

June 2021

010

Page 30

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1
Performance vs Benchmark @ 31 March 2021
Asset Class

Manager

Inception Date

Market Value
31.12.20

Market Value
31.03.21

£000's

£000's

3 Months
Total Return

1 Year
Total Return

Actual
Performance %

Benchmark %

Actual
Performance %

Benchmark %

3 Years
Annualised Return
Actual
Benchmark %
Performance %

Since Inception
Annualised Return
Actual
Benchmark %
Performance %

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Mandates
Equities
UK Active Equity

Brunel

Nov-18

356,894

373,224

4.6

5.6

27.5

24.9

-

-

3.4

3.0

Emerging Market Equities

Brunel

Oct-19

172,678

176,328

2.1

1.4

46.1

42.8

-

-

13.6

13.9

Global High Alpha Equities

Brunel

Nov-19

555,203

436,140

3.1

4.1

50.0

39.1

-

-

23.9

13.5

Sustainable Equities

Brunel

Sep-20

85,130

254,269

0.2

3.7

-

-

-

-

9.4

12.6

Low Carbon Equities

Brunel - LGIM

Jul-18

64,873

67,369

3.8

3.9

39.0

39.2

-

-

11.5

11.6

Passive Developed Equities (Unhdg)

Brunel - LGIM

Jul-18

161,451

-

3.0

2.9

37.8

37.9

-

-

10.7

10.7

Passive Developed Equities (Hdg)

Brunel - LGIM

Jul-18

157,802

167,613

6.4

6.4

50.2

50.4

-

-

11.3

11.4

Smart Beta

Brunel - LGIM

Jul-18

247,687

263,530

6.4

6.4

34.2

34.4

-

-

7.9

8.2

1,801,718

1,738,473

Total Asset Class
Fixed Interest

Page 31

Global Fixed Interest

WAMCO

Apr-05

395,919

381,223

-3.7

-4.1

9.5

7.0

4.0

3.9

6.0

6.3

Global Multi Strategy FI

WAMCO

Sep-11

206,456

201,044

-2.7

0.5

15.3

2.2

2.7

2.6

3.6

2.6

602,375

582,267

Total Asset Class
Alternatives
Diversifying Returns Fund

Brunel

Jul-20

84,899

217,761

-1.5

0.0

-

-

-

-

0.0

0.0

UK Property

Brunel

Apr-20

188,689

193,097

2.2

2.2

1.7

2.5

-

-

1.7

2.5

International Property

Brunel

Apr-20

13,309

13,773

4.0

-3.9

-4.1

-2.9

-

-

-4.1

-2.9

Infrastructure - Cycle 1

Brunel

Apr-18

10,393

11,071

-2.7

0.2

3.6

0.7

-

-

1.8

1.0

Infrastructure - Cycle 2

Brunel

Apr-20

4,067

5,069

-1.2

0.2

-

-

-

-

-1.4

0.3

Private Equity - Cycle 1

Brunel

Apr-18

9,890

10,768

-2.4

3.7

-1.6

39.6

-

-

14.1

15.7

Private Equity - Cycle 2

Brunel

Apr-20

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Private Debt

Golub Capital Partners

Jul-17

32,006

31,710

1.0

1.3

-5.3

5.3

8.3

5.7

6.2

5.7

Private Debt

Arcmont Asset Management

Aug-17

33,362

33,360

1.3

1.3

6.7

5.3

7.3

5.7

7.1

5.7

Venture Capital

Yorkshire Fund Managers/TVP

Oct-17

4,628

4,856

5.8

-

4.6

-

-2.4

-

-

-

In-house Cash

In-house Cash

54,030

50,922

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Fund Manager Cash

Fund Manager Cash

3,504

4,481

-

-

-

-

0.2

-

-

-

438,777

577,508

2,842,870

2,898,248

1.9

2.3

26.6

23.0

7.6

7.8

7.8

8.1

Total Asset Class

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Total

640

This page is intentionally left blank

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1

.

Fund Asset Allocation vs Strategic Asset Allocation @ 31 March 2021

Asset Class

Manager(s)

Market Value
31 Mar 21

Target Allocation

Range

Fund Asset
Allocation
31 Mar 21

Variation from
Target

£000's

%

+/- %

%

%

Variation from
previous quarter

Equities
UK Active Equity

Brunel

373,224

12.0

2.0

12.9

0.9



Emerging Market Equities

Brunel

176,328

6.5

1.5

6.1

-0.4



Global High Alpha Equities

Brunel

436,140

13.0

2.0

15.0

2.0



Sustainable Equities

Brunel

254,269

10.0

2.0

8.8

-1.2



Low Carbon Equities

Brunel - LGIM

67,369

4.0

1.0

2.3

-1.7



Passive Developed Equities (Hdg)

Brunel - LGIM

167,613

0.0

0.0

5.8

5.8



Smart Beta

Brunel - LGIM

263,530

9.5

1.5

9.1

-0.4



1,738,473

55.0

3.0

60.0

5.0



Total Asset Class

Page 33

Fixed Interest
Global Fixed Interest

WAMCO

381,223

14.5

1.5

13.2

-1.3



Global Multi Strategy FI

WAMCO

201,044

7.5

1.0

6.9

-0.6



582,267

22.0

2.0

20.1

-1.9



Total Asset Class
Alternatives
Diversifying Returns Fund

Brunel

217,761

0.0

10.0

7.5

7.5



UK Property

Brunel

193,097

7.5

1.0

6.7

-0.8



International Property

Brunel

13,773

2.5

1.0

0.5

-2.0



Infrastructure

Brunel

16,140

5.0

1.0

0.6

-4.4



Private Equity

Brunel

11,408

3.0

1.0

0.4

-2.6



Private Debt

Golub/Arcmont/Brunel

65,070

5.0

1.0

2.2

-2.8



Venture Capital

Yorkshire Fund Managers/TVP

4,856

0.0

0.0

0.2

0.2



Cash

In-house Cash/Fund Manager Cash

55,403

0.0

0.5

1.9

1.9



577,508

23.0

2.0

19.9

-3.1



2,898,248

100.0

0.0

100.0

Total Asset Class

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Total




Moving further away from target
Moving closer to target
Stable against target

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Agenda Item 5
Pension Board
28 July 2021
Review of the Pension Fund Risk Register
Report of the Head of Pensions
The attached Risk Register reflects the risks relating to the Pension Fund and indicates the
significance of each risk.
As per previous reports the significance of individual risks is measured by a scoring system
which multiplies the likelihood of the occurrence with the potential impact of such an
occurrence. Both “likelihood” and “impact” are scored 1 – 5 and after multiplying both
numbers together, the higher the product, the higher the risk.
Risk Score Range
1 to 6
7 to 12
13 to 25

Risk Category
Low
Medium
High

The attached Risk Register shows each risk, scored before and after controls are in place
(i.e. the inherent and residual risks).
The risks are referenced as follows: Financial Risks (F)
Funding / Demography Risks (F/D) Administration / Regulatory Risks (A/R) Governance Risks
(G)
Since the risk register was last considered by the Pension Committee in March 2021, there
has been no substantial movement in the overall risk levels faced by the Fund.
I highlighting a number of the risks below for Committee to acknowledge and comment as
appropriate at their meeting on 18 June, and those that remain at levels previously
increased by Committee that have yet to reduce back to previous levels.
Highlighted Risks
•

F1, F2 & F4
o These risks had previously been increased due to the potential impact of the
Covid pandemic and the Equity review. They were reduced back to original
levels last quarter and will continue to be monitored by Committee through
ongoing reporting.

•

F6
o The risk remains at an elevate level at this time. This risk will be reviewed once
the inflation and interest rate risk exposure of the Fund has been reviewed,
as part of the ongoing work plan.

Page 35

Agenda Item 5
•

A/R 1.1, A/R 1.2 & G5
o These remain at a medium residual risk as the recruitment plan for the agreed
team resources is still ongoing. Risk G5 will be reviewed after the training
needs analysis has been undertaken.

In addition to the above updated narrative being shown in red on risks F8, F9, A/R4 & G7,
on the attached updated risk register.
All of the remaining risk ratings within the risk register have been reviewed. It is anticipated
that risk G8 and F9 will be removed from the risk register in the near future as the transition
to Brunel has been completed.
Recommendation
That the Board notes the risk register and the changes agreed by Committee.
Contact Officer
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920)

Page 36

Ref

F1

Risk or Opportunity Description

Fund assets fail to deliver returns in line
with the anticipated returns underpinning
valuation of liabilities over the long-term

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

The achievement of fully
funded pension liabilities over
the long term

Owner

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

Head of
Pension Fund

4

4

Page 37
F2

Inappropriate long-term investment strategy. The achievement of fully
funded pension liabilities over
the long term

Head of
Pension Fund

4

4

Controls

R

Only anticipate long-term return on
a relatively prudent basis (currently
4.2% pa for on-going employers per
the 2019 valuation) to reduce risk of
under- performing.
Assets invested on the basis of
specialist advice, in a suitably
diversified manner across asset
16 classes, geographies, managers,
etc.
Analysis of progress at three yearly
valuations for all employers, with
strategic asset allocation to be reexamined by an investment
specialist in the context of the
valuation results.
Inter-valuation roll-forward of
liabilities between valuations at
whole Fund level. Actuarial Review
on a like for like basis has
confirmed a strong deficit recovery
plan.

Regular monitoring of Fund's cash
flow with actuarial estimates of
future cash flow position.
Overall investment strategy options
16
including diversification considered
as an integral part of the funding
strategy. Use of asset liability
modelling. Actuarial Review on a
like for like basis has confirmed a
strong deficit recovery plan.

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

2

2

4

4

R

8

8

Direction of
Travel

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021

►

►

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

Financial

Financial

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

Long term forecasting of Strategic
Asset Allocation ongoing by
Independent Advisor and reported
quarterly to Committee

The new final strategic investment
allocation and strategy was approved
by the Pension Committee on 14th
February 2020. This has been
followed by an Equity Review in
January 2021. Implementation of
the equity strategy will be
undertaken appropriately.

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

9 June 2021

9 June 2021

Version: 1g

Ref

F3

Page 38

F4

F5

Risk or Opportunity Description

Fall in risk-free returns on Government
bonds, leading to rise in value placed on
liabilities.

Increasing Pension Fund deficit

Active investment manager underperformance relative to benchmark.

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

The achievement of fully
funded pension liabilities over
the long term

The achievement of fully
funded pension liabilities over
the long term

Maximising investment returns
to help the Fund achieve its
funding target

Owner

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

Head of
Pension Fund

Head of
Pension Fund

Head of
Pension Fund

4

4

4

3

3

3

Controls

R

Stabilisation modelling at whole
12 Fund level allows for the
probability of this within a
longer-term context.
Inter-valuation monitoring, as
above. Some investment in bonds
helps to mitigate this risk.
Actuarial Review on a like for like
basis has confirmed a strong deficit
recovery plan.

Actuarial review via Triennial
Valuation and regular update
reports.
12 Regular consideration by Pension
Committee on manager
performance relative to funding
assumptions, funding position and
funding strategy. Actuarial Review
on a like for like basis has
confirmed a strong deficit recovery
plan.

Quarterly investment monitoring
analyses market performance and
active managers relative to their
12
index benchmark.
Diversification of investments
across asset classes and across
different fund managers

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

2

2

2

3

3

3

R

6

6

6

Direction of
Travel

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021

►

►

►

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

Financial

Financial

Financial

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

Assumed long term investment
return set as 4.2% for on-going
employers under the 2019
valuation. This long-term
investment return is one of the
factors used to determine the
contributions for all employers
covering the period 2020/21 to
2022/23.

Assets currently exceed the
projected liabilities. Future longterm investment returns still within
tolerance levels. The funding
position will continue to be
monitored on a quarterly basis and
reported to Committee

Performance in the current
portfolio's and in the new Brunel
portfolio's will be monitored against
agreed performance targets and will
be reported back to the Committee
on a quarterly basis.

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

9 June 2021

9 June 2021

9 June 2021

Ref

F6

Risk or Opportunity Description

Pay and price inflation significantly more
than anticipated.

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

The achievement of fully
funded pension liabilities over
the long term

Owner

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

Head of
Pension Fund

4

2

Page 39
F7

Unexpected increase in employer’s
contribution rate

To stabilise changes in
employer contribution rates
over the long term

Head of
Pension Fund

4

3

Controls

R
The focus of the actuarial valuation
process is on real returns on
assets, net of price and pay
increases.
Inter-valuation monitoring, as
above, gives early warning.
8
Some investment in index-linked
bonds also helps to mitigate this
risk.
Employers pay for their own salary
awards and should be mindful of
the geared effect on pension
liabilities of any bias in pensionable
pay rises towards longer-serving
employees.
An explicit stabilisation mechanism
has been agreed for eligible
employers as part of the funding
strategy. Other measures are also in
place to limit sudden increases in
contributions.
Obtain information on financial
strength of individual employers.
12 Discuss with employers their ability
to absorb rises in their level of
contribution.
Where appropriate mitigate
impact through deficit spreading
and phasing in of contribution
rises, with appropriate security
from employers and further
analysis by the Fund’s actuary.

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

4

2

2

3

R

8

6

Direction of
Travel

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021

►

►

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

Financial

Financial

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

There is a greater risk for a more
inflationary environment as a result
of the Covid pandemic, as
Governments and central banks look
to dealing with the substantial debt
burden the pandemic has caused. A
main risk to the pension funds
liabilities is inflation, due to the
inherent link to the benefits.
A review of the inflation and interest
rate risks on the Fund will be
undertaken in 2021 with any
identified mitigations brought back to
Committee for consideration. Until
this review has been concluded the
risk will remain increased.

Following the 2019 valuation of the
Fund the contribution rates for the
vast majority of employers will
remain at the levels set under the
2016 valuation or will reduce.

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

9 June 2021

9 June 2021

Ref

F8

Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

A company, without a guarantor, admitted to To ensure individual employers
the Fund as an admission body may become in the Fund are responsible for
financially unviable, leaving a significant
their own costs
financial deficit with the Fund.

Owner

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

Head of
Pension Fund

4

3

Page 40
F9

Financial loss experienced during the
transitioning of Assets to the new Brunel
Portfolio's

Maximising investment returns
to help the Fund achieve its
funding target

Head of
Pension Fund

3

5

Controls

R

Under current admission rules, a
transferee admission body will
always have a funding guarantee
from the transferring scheme
employer. A community admission
body will only be admitted to the
Fund if they have a funding
guarantee from a scheme employer
with tax raising powers. A surety
bond to cover the cost of paying
pensions early if the company goes
into liquidation is also generally
required by the scheme employer to
12
cover the potential risk of the
admitted body becoming insolvent
and the value of this surety or bond
is reviewed regularly to ensure it
provides adequate cover for the
financial risks involved.
Many years ago, prior to the
introduction of these rules, some
employers were admitted to the
Fund without guarantors. At the
start of 2019/20 there were seven
"old" employers within the Fund
without a guarantor.

Detailed reconciliation of assets
transferred undertaken by the
Finance and Investments Manager.
15
Detailed report from transition
experts commissioned by the Brunel
will be produced following each
transition to provide assurance to
clients.

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

2

2

3

4

R

6

8

Direction of
Travel

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021

►

►

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

Financial

Financial

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

Four Admitted Bodies without
guarantors now remain within the
Fund. As part of the 2019 valuation
the contribution rates for these
employers were calculated based on a
lower GILTS based investment return,
which results in higher contributions.
This partially addresses this risk for
these four remaining admitted
bodies without a guarantor. Further
engagement and review of the
current position will be undertaken
with these Employers through 2021
ahead of the valuation.

Formal reporting and analysis by
third party consultants is undertaken
to ensure the transitions are
completed in an appropriate manner.
These outputs are reviewed by
Officers and assured back to the
Oversight Board. The final transitions
are scheduled for completion by Q2
2021.

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

9 June 2021

9 June 2021

Ref

F/D1

Risk or Opportunity Description

Pensioners living longer, thus increasing
cost to Fund.

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

The achievement of fully
funded pension liabilities over
the long term

Owner

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

Head of
Pension Fund

5

2

Page 41
F/D2

Maturing Fund – i.e. proportion of actively
contributing employees declines relative to
retired employees leading to the possibility
of there not being sufficient liquid funds
available to pay liabilities as they fall due.

Efficient management of the Fund
by the Administering Authority, Head of
Pension Fund
ensuring its responsibilities are
met, while costs are minimized

4

3

Controls

R

Set mortality assumptions with
some allowance for future
increases in life expectancy.
The Fund Actuary has direct access
to the experience of over 50 LGPS
funds which allows early
identification of changes in life
expectancy that might in turn
affect the assumptions
10
underpinning the valuation.
The Fund also sets life expectancy
assumptions using ClubVita, which
is a specialised longevity company
and provides life expectancy
assumptions based on the profile
of the Fund’s own membership.
Administering Authority encourage
any employers concerned at costs
to promote later retirement culture.
Each 1 year rise in the average age
at retirement would save roughly
5% of pension costs.

Continue to monitor at each
valuation, seeking monetary
amounts rather than % of pay.
12 Between valuations regularly
monitor level of active members on
both a total Fund basis and by
individual employer. Regularly
monitor how cash flow positive the
Fund is. Regularly review investment
strategy.

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

2

2

2

3

R

4

6

Direction of
Travel

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021

►

►

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

Financial

Financial

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

This has been addressed under the
2019 valuation of the Fund with
specific Gloucestershire related data
being supplied by Club Vita analysis,
hence longevity movements have
been specifically considered under
the 2019 valuation. The impact of the
Covid pandemic will continue to be
monitored as part of the Club Vita
analysis, but the impact of this may
only be realized over the longer-term
analysis.

The Fund commissioned Hymans
Robertson to undertake cash flow
modelling based on the following
three scenarios:
Scenario 1 – cash flows projections
based on 2016 valuation membership
data, Scenario 2 – cash flows
projections based on 2016 valuation
membership data, with a 20%
reduction in actives, Scenario 3 - with
a 40% reduction in active members.
This modelling indicated that the
fund will remain cash flow positive
until 2033 under scenario1, to 2026
under scenario 2 and would
immediately become cash flow
negative under scenario 3. Given that
active membership in the
Gloucestershire scheme is still
increasing slightly it is felt that
scenario 1 is the most likely outcome
for the fund.

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

9 June 2021

9 June 2021

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021

Risk or Opportunity Description

F/D3

Deteriorating patterns of early retirements

To ensure individual employers
in the Fund are responsible for
their own costs

F/D4

Reductions in payroll causing insufficient
deficit recovery payments

To ensure individual employers
in the Fund are responsible for
their own costs

Page 42

F/D5

Ill-health retirements significantly
more than anticipated

To ensure individual employers
in the Fund are responsible for
their own costs

Owner

L/V I/B

Head of
Pension Fund

Head of
Pension Fund

Head of
Pension Fund

4

4

4

3

3

3

Controls

R
Employers are charged the extra
12 cost of non-ill-health retirements
following each individual decision.

Require employers to pay sums
12 due for deficit recovery
contributions as a fixed monetary
amount rather than being
expressed as a % of pay.

Monitoring of each employer’s illhealth experience on an ongoing
basis. The employer may be
12 charged additional contributions if
this exceeds the ill-health
assumption built in. Ill health
insurance is available to be
purchased by individual employers

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

Direction of
Travel

Ref

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

2

3

6

►

Financial

9 June 2021

2

3

6

►

Financial

9 June 2021

L/V I/B

2

3

R

6

►

Financial

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

A new ill health liability insurance
procedure was introduced from 1
April 2020 under which all Town and
Parish Council's, Academy Schools
and Admitted Bodies without
guarantors, as the highest risk
employers within the fund in relation
to this issue are included within an
overall external insurance policy
arranged by the Fund, funded within
the contributions set under the 2019
valuation. All other employers will be
included within the cover of a central
policy unless they formally opt out of
cover, under the procedures agreed
by the Pension Committee in
September 2019. Full details of the
new arrangements were sent to all
employers with the details of the
outcome of the 2019 valuation and
the contributions set for the period
2020/21 to 2022/23. Only three
employers have opted out of the new
insurance arrangements.

9 June 2021

Ref

F/D6

Page 43

F/D7

Risk or Opportunity Description

Adverse effect on the Fund’s investment
strategy and employer contributions if
large numbers of active members are
outsourced on a “closed” (to new
entrants) basis

Transfers out of the Fund into DC schemes
due to introduction of "Freedom & Choice"
resulting in a change in funding level

Significant additional costs resulting from
changes to national pension requirements
A/R1.1 and/or HMRC rules e.g. changes arising
from public sector pensions reform, and/or
more complex regulations requiring
increased administration resources.

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

The achievement of fully
funded pension liabilities over
the long term

The achievement of fully
funded pension liabilities over
the long term

Owner

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

Head of
Pension Fund

Head of
Pension Fund

Efficient management of the Fund
by the Administering Authority, Head of
Pension Fund
ensuring its responsibilities are
met, while costs are minimized

3

3

3

3

3

3

Controls

R

Take advice from the Fund actuary
on the likely impact this will have on
Fund investment out performance
assumptions and employer
contributions. Monitor levels of
9
outsourcings on a “closed” basis and
advise employers of implications so
these are considered when they
review the business case for an
outsourcing.
Regularly review investment
strategy and strategic asset
allocation.

Taken advice from the Fund actuary
on the proportion of the Fund's
active and deferred members aged
55 or over and the maximum
9
exposure of the Fund to these
transfers, split between active and
deferred members. Considered
impact on funding level given
different possible levels of take up
from active and deferred members.

The Administering Authority
considers all consultation papers
issued by the Government and
comments where appropriate.
Considered different % take up
scenarios for active and deferred
9
members
The results of the most recent
reforms have been built into the
valuation. Any changes to member
contribution rates or benefit levels
will be carefully communicated with
members to minimise possible optouts or adverse actions.

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

2

2

3

2

R

6

4

Direction of
Travel

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021

►

►

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

Financial

Financial

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

No significant impact to date, but the
risk continues to be monitored on a
regular basis. The comPASS
modelling of contributions payable
by GCC, the Police and District
Council's has taken account of this,
especially the Publica outsourcing
and hence this was considered when
the employer contributions were set
for the years 2020/21 to 2022/23.

The comPASS modelling of
contributions payable by GCC, the
Police and District Council's has
taken account of this, especially the
Publica outsourcing and hence this
was considered when the employer
contributions were set for the years
2020/21 to 2022/23.

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

9 June 2021

9 June 2021

The Pensions Committee have
agreed increased resources for the
Pensions Team in January 2021.

3

3

9

►

Legislative
&
Regulatory

The residual risk will remain raised
from 6 to 9, until progress in the
recruitment of the agreed resources
has been achieved, at which time it
is anticipated that the residual risk
will be reduced back to the previous
level.

9 June 2021

Ref

A/R
1.2

A/R2

Risk or Opportunity Description

Under resourcing of Pension Administration
staff resulting in a deterioration of
performance against key performance
indicators and/or intervention from the
Pensions Regulator.

Failure to collect and account for
contributions from employers and
employees on time

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

Owner

Experience indicates that
intervention by the Pensions
Head of
Regulator has major implications Pension Fund
in terms of increased workload
and/or adverse financial
implications.

Efficient management of the Fund
by the Administering Authority, Head of
Pension Fund
ensuring its responsibilities are
met, while costs are minimised

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

4

4

4

3

Page 44
A/R3

A/R4

Loss of funds through fraud or
misappropriation

Does the fund have sufficient resources to
provide sufficient input to the development
of the Brunel Pension Partnership in the
context of the importance of ensuring that
the partnership operates in an efficient and
effective manner.

Efficient management of the Fund
by the Administering Authority, Head of
Pension Fund
ensuring its responsibilities are
met, while costs are minimised

To ensure the fund is proactive in
the development of the proposals
Head of
and the robust control
Pension Fund
environment required for the
collective management of assets,
to avoid a detrimental impact on
the fund.

4

4

3

4

Controls

R

This risk is regularly monitored
and, as detailed in risk A/R 1.1
16 actions have already been taken to
increase the level of Pensions
Officers in order to improve
performance against key
performance indicators.

Regular monthly monitoring and
reconciliation of Fund contributions
received, including a detailed
12 analysis of individual employer
contributions and employee
contributions by pay banding.
Robust debt management
processes are in place to recover
any late payments

Procedures and processes are in
place and applied in relation to eg:
checking for "ghost" scheme
members; multiple levels of
12 authorisation for claims and fund
payments plus secondary checking
of lump sum payments. Procedures
are documented and staff are
trained and managed in carrying
these out. The Fund's internal
auditors carry out regular reviews.
Additional staffing resources may
be required to facilitate
dedicated staffing resources to
16 take forward the pooling
proposal. This may require
additional contributions from
participating funds.

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

R

Direction of
Travel

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

Legislative
&
Regulatory

3

3

9

►

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

The Pensions Committee have
agreed increased resources for the
Pensions Team in January 2021.
The residual risk will remain raised
from 6 to 9, until progress in the
recruitment of the agreed resources
has been achieved, at which time it
is anticipated that the residual risk
will be reduced back to the previous
level.

2

2

2

3

3

3

6

6

6

►

►

►

Legislative
&
Regulatory

Fraud

Legislative
&
Regulatory

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

9 June 2021

9 June 2021

The funds internal auditors regularly
review the adequacy of controls
within the Pensions Section. These
reviews make use of experienced
Counter Fraud staff who are
available to the internal auditors.

Officer resources are focused on the
important client-side roles, including
looking at the adequacy of control
systems. The future recruitment of
the Pension Investment &
Accounting Manager post will
provide further resilience to this.

9 June 2021

9 June 2021

Ref

A/R5

Page 45

A/R6

G1

Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

Failure to undertake a full reconciliation of
Guaranteed Minimum Pensions records held
on the Gloucestershire LGPS Altair system
Additional financial costs to the
with those held by HMRC could result in
Fund
additional financial costs to the
Gloucestershire Fund.

Without appropriate actions
being taken new retirees would
COVID-19 Pandemic having a detrimental
impact to the Pension Fund service provided not receive their pensions,
contributions would not be
to members and/or to the collections of
received and new investments
pension fund contributions and
would not be actioned
investments.

Administering Authority unaware of
structural changes in an employer’s
membership (e.g. large fall in employee
members, large number of retirements) or
not advised of an employer closing to new
entrants

The achievement of fully
funded pension liabilities over
the long term

Owner

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

Head of
Pension Fund

Head of
Pension Fund

Head of
Pension Fund

5

4

4

3

4

3

Controls

R

A detailed reconciliation procedure
has commenced and a large
number of discrepancies have been
15 identified where the
Gloucestershire Pension Fund is not
liable for GMP payments held on
HMRC records.

Due to remote access the majority of
the finance and investment team
staff can all work effectively from
home with a minimal negative
impact on the service. With regard
16
to administration team, due to the
paper-based nature of the service,
effective working from home is not
possible for all staff, and hence
some office working would be
needed to continue to provide an
adequate service to members.

The Administering Authority has a
close relationship with employing
bodies and communicates required
12 standards e.g. for submission of
data.
The Actuary may revise the rates
and Adjustments certificate to
increase an employer’s
contributions (under Regulation
38) between triennial
valuations

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

2

3

R

6

3

3

9

2

3

6

Direction of
Travel

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021

►

►

►

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

Service
Continuity

Service
Continuity

Governance

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

Detailed reconciliation process
completed and results returned to
HMRC which has resulted in a
significant reduction in potential
abilities.

Due to the fact that the majority of
the Finance offices have been empty
since the pandemic, the Pensions
Administration team have taken over
other offices and introduced a social
distancing mode of working. The
team has been split into two, with
each sub team working in the office
every other week. This, supported
by home working, where possible,
has ensured that the key services
have continued to be provided
effectively, especially the calculation
and payment of new pensions,
payment of death grants and the
issuing of Annual Benefit Statements
to all members by the statutory
deadline. The finance and
investment team have worked
effectively at home to deliver the full
service and have met its statutory
deadlines.

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

9 June 2021

9 June 2021

9 June 2021

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021

G2

G3

Page 46
G4

Risk or Opportunity Description

Actuarial or investment advice is not
sought, or is not heeded, or proves to be
insufficient in some way

Administering
Authority
failing
to
commission the Fund Actuary to carry out
a termination valuation for a departing
Admission Body.

Failure to comply with the Myners’
Investment Principles

Owner

Efficient management of the Fund
by the Administering Authority, Head of
ensuring its responsibilities are
Pension Fund
met, while costs are minimised

L/V I/B

4

3

Efficient management of the Fund
by the Administering Authority, Head of
ensuring its responsibilities are Pension Fund
met, while costs are minimised

4

3

Efficient management of the Fund
by the Administering Authority, Head of
Pension Fund
ensuring its responsibilities are
met, while costs are minimised

4

3

Controls

R

The Administering Authority
maintains close contact with its
specialist advisers. Advice is
delivered via formal meetings
12 involving Elected Members, and
recorded appropriately.
Actuarial advice is subject to
professional requirements such as
peer review

The Administering Authority
requires employers with Best Value
contractors to inform it of
forthcoming changes. The
administering authority also
12 monitors contract periods of
Admission Bodies and regularly
monitors levels of active employees
across all employers. Where their
active membership materially
decreases further steps are taken.

Compliance as detailed in the
12 Investment Strategy Statement
and Governance Statements are
kept under regular review.

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

Direction of
Travel

Ref

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

2

3

6

►

Governance

9 June 2021

2

3

6

►

Governance

9 June 2021

2

3

6

►

Governance

9 June 2021

L/V I/B

R

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

Ref

G5

Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

Owner

Efficient management of the Fund
Head of
Lack of relevant expertise, knowledge, skills
by the Administering Authority,
Pension Fund
and resources at officer and member level
ensuring its responsibilities are
in relation to administering the LGPS
met, while costs are minimised

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

4

4

Page 47
G6

Failure to internally hold personal data
securely and keep pension records up-todate and accurate

Efficient management of the Fund
by the Administering Authority, Head of
ensuring it's responsibilities are Pension Fund
met, while costs are minimised

4

4

Controls

R

Training needs assessments for the
Administering Authority are carried
out and an annual training plan
produced. The Fund subscribes to
the CIPFA Knowledge and Skills
16 Framework for the LGPS and makes
this information available to all
members of the Pension Committee
and relevant officers. Appropriately
qualified external advisers and
consultants are used as appropriate.

Personal data and scanned
documents relating to scheme
members are maintained in an
online system with logical access
controls via individual password
access for those that need to
16 maintain and access this
information. Procedures for
maintaining pension records are
documented and the process is
monitored and managed within the
Pensions Administration team.
Procedures are regularly reviewed
by the Fund's internal auditors.
Physical access controls are also in
operation within the Pension Fund
office.

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

R

Direction of
Travel

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

The Pensions Committee have
agreed increased resources for the
Pensions Team in January 2021.

3

1

4

4

12

4

►

►

The residual risk will remain raised,
until progress in the recruitment of
the agreed resources has been
Governance
achieved, at which time it is
anticipated that the residual risk will
be reduced back to the previous
level. With the adoption of the
proposed Training Strategy this will
provide a framework for compliance
with the required Knowledge and
Skills requirements for both officers
and members. The training needs
assessment will ensure a robust and
appropriate training plan is
delivered.

Governance

9 June 2021

9 June 2021

Ref

G7

Risk or Opportunity Description

Loss of experience on the Pension Fund
Committee or Pension Board, and/or the
lack of adequate training, resulting in a
negative impact on governance
arrangements within the Gloucestershire
LGPS.

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

Owner

Efficient management of the Fund
by the Administering Authority, Head of
Pension Fund
ensuring its responsibilities are
met, while costs are minimised

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

3

4

Controls

R

Training is provided on an on-going
basis to Committee and Board
12 Members both at formal meetings
of the Committee/Board and at
internal and external training
sessions.

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

1

4

R

4

Direction of
Travel

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021

►

Page 48
G8

G9

Transition from the current custodian to
State Street Bank under the Brunel Pension
Partnership resulting in failings during the
transition and/or inadequate performance
reports post transition and/or negative
impacts on the final accounts of the Pension
Fund due to failings in the accounting
reports received from State Street Bank

Failure to comply with the General Data
Protection Regulation resulting in breaches
which have to be reported to the Pension
Regulator and the Information
Commissioners Office resulting in
complaints from scheme members and/or
significant financial fines.

Efficient management of the Fund
by the Administering Authority, Head of
Pension Fund
ensuring its responsibilities are
met, while costs are minimised

Efficient management of the Fund
by the Administering Authority, Head of
Pension Fund
ensuring its responsibilities are
met, while costs are minimised

3

5

4

Detailed control procedures
implemented during the transition
12 with support from a transition
manager working for the Brunel
Pension Partnership

4

Detailed guidance and support was
obtained from the GCC Information
Management Team which resulted
20 in additional guidance being
provided on the Pension Fund
website to meet the requirements
of GDPR.

1

3

3

4

3

12

►

►

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

The Pension Board was established in
2015 with members appointed for a
period of 4 years, which can be
extended by 4 years with the
agreement of the member of the
Governance
Board. Three members who have
served for 4 years have confirmed
that they are wish to remain on the
Board. A further 2 members have
been appointed in 2020 to the Local
Pensions Board, bringing the
membership to 6 (3 member and 3
Employer representatives).
Council elections in May 2021 have
resulted in 4 new members of the
Committee and 3 returning members.
The district representative and the
scheme member representative have
also remained on Committee. An
induction session has been held and a
training needs assessment launched.

No major problems were
encountered during the transitions
Governance undertaken to date and assets
transferred were reconciled back to
the detailed records held by each
manager.

Detailed guidance and support was
obtained from the GCC Information
Management Team which resulted
in additional guidance being
Governance
provided on the Pension Fund
website to meet the requirements
of GDPR. A recent internal audit has
confirmed that there are
satisfactory arrangements in this
area.

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

9 June 2021

9 June 2021

9 June 2021

Ref

G10

G11

Risk or Opportunity Description

Failure to protect the Pension Fund's key
information and data as a result of
exploited technological vulnerabilities
facilitated through malicious attack,
primarily from external sources.

Page 49

Failing to adequately take account of, and
monitor and report on, Environmental,
Social and Governance ("ESG") factors,
including Climate Change, in relation to
the investment of the Funds’ assets,
resulting in negative ESG implications
and/or financial loss.

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

Owner

L/V I/B

Efficient management of the Fund
by the Administering Authority, Head of
Pension Fund
ensuring its responsibilities are
met, while costs are minimised

In the longer-term investments
with positive ESG impacts may
well lead to improved financial
returns.

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity

Head of
Pension Fund

5

3

4

4

Controls

R

Anti-malware and internet security
software. Patch management
20 policies and procedures. Compliance
with PSN. Internal and External ICT
security testing. Managing user
privileges.

As a member of the Brunel Pension
Partnership the Fund will benefit
from the fact that ESG factors,
including Climate Change, are
integral to all of the investment
12 decisions made by the BPP on
behalf of Client Funds. Such factors
will be considered for all
investment manager appointments
made by the BPP, and a robust ongoing monitoring and reporting
system of ESG and Climate Change
factors will ensure that the Pension
Committee receives on- going
assurance in this area.

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B

3

2

3

3

R

9

6

Direction of
Travel

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021

►

►

Category of
Risk or
Opportunity

Period Comments / Additional
Actions

Governance

In January 2020 the Brunel Pension
Partnership launched their detailed
Climate Change policy. The
Gloucestershire Pensions Committee
Governance received a copy of this policy at its
May meeting, together with a
detailed presentation from Faith
Ward, the Chief Responsible
Investment Officer at the Brunel, and
a recommendation that the
Gloucestershire Fund formally
adopts the BPP Climate Change
policy.

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

9 June 2021

9 June 2021

Ref

Risk or Opportunity Description

Benefits of taking opportunity
or consequences if risk occurs
and related objectives

Owner

Inherent Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B R

Controls

Residual Risk
or
Opportunity
L/V I/B R

Direction of
Travel

Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021

Category of
Period Comments / Additional
Risk or
Opportunity Actions

All risks are
monitored on an
on-going basis.
Date of last
review.

Page 50

Agenda Item 6
Agenda Item 6
Pension Board
28 July 2021
Board Annual Report 2020-21
Report of the Head of Pensions
Summary
Under the constitution, the Board shall provide an annual report to the Pension
Committee and then to a full meeting of Gloucestershire County Council. The report will
include information on the business conducted by the Pension Board with any risks or
concerns identified. The report will also be published on the Pension Fund’s website.
The draft report, attached at Appendix 1, meets that requirement for the 2020/21
financial year, covering the work from the October 2020 and March 2021 Board meetings.
The report provides details of the constitution of the Board, the respective Employer and
Member representatives and their attendance at the meetings held.
The annual report provides an overview of the items received and reviewed by the Board
at its meetings in 2020/21, with additional commentary on the key items that the Board
supported and continue to support, such as the Training Strategy and the Governance
Review.
It also provides an indication of the future work programme for the Board for 2021/22,
which will focus on the triennial valuation, governance review and the McCloud
judgement.

Recommendation
The Board are recommended to
1. Provide any feedback on the draft Annual Report, attached at Appendix 1
2. Approve the Board Annual Report 2020-21, subject to any feedback received in 1)
above.

Contact Officer
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920)

Page 51

This page is intentionally left blank

The Gloucestershire Local Government Pension Scheme
(LGPS) Pension Board
All Public Sector Pension schemes were required under the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 to set
up a Pension Board with effect from 2015/16 to assist the administering authorities of their Pension
scheme in ensuring compliance with LGPS and other pension regulations.
The County Council, as administering authority of the Gloucestershire LGPS agreed the terms of
reference of the Pension Board in February 2015 and amended them during 2019/20. The terms of
reference are included within the Fund's Governance Policy document, which can be found on the
Funds website and in the 2020/21 Annual Report.
Under the constitution, the Board shall provide an annual report to the Pension Committee and then
to a full meeting of Gloucestershire County Council. The report will include information on the
business conducted by the Pension Board with any risks or concerns identified. The report will also
be published on the Pension Fund’s website. This report meets that requirement for the 2020/21
financial year, covering the work from the October 2020 and March 2021 Board meetings.
Taking account of the relevant LGPS regulations and guidance, the Gloucestershire LGPS decided to
appoint an independent non-voting chair of the Pension Board. An independent chair of the Pension
Board cannot have any involvement (e.g. through membership or employer links) with the local
pension scheme they would be chairing, but having good experience and knowledge of the LGPS
would be advantageous and would assist the other Board members in their role. To comply with
these requirements the Gloucestershire LGPS invited the Head of Pensions at the Oxfordshire LGPS,
Sean Collins, to become chair of the Gloucestershire Pension Board. Attendance at Board meetings
was as follows:
Attended 22 October
2020 meeting

Attended 9 March
2021 meeting

No
Yes
Yes

Yes
Yes
Yes

Yes
Yes
Yes

Yes
Yes
Yes

Scheme Employer Representatives
Annette Benson (University of Gloucestershire)
Paul Jones (Cheltenham Borough Council)
Cllr Nigel Moor (Gloucestershire County Council)
Scheme Member Representatives
John Abbott
Michael Hunt
Jon Topping

In addition to attendance at Board Meetings, members of the Pension Board are invited to attend
joint training and update sessions with members of the Pension Committee. Members of the
Pension Board are also sent all agenda papers for the Pension Committee meetings, which they can
attend as observers. The minutes of the Pension Board are reported to the next Pension Committee.
Work Programme
The Board receives the following items in respect of its key responsibilities at every meeting:
•
•
•

Funding position and an Investment Performance review
Risk Register
Pension Administration Report

Page 53

Due to the Covid-19 Pandemic both meetings in 2020/21 have taken place virtually. The October
2020 meeting being the first of these types of meetings focussed on the Boards key responsibilities
and the following additional reports were received:
•
•

Business Plan 2020/21
Exit Credit Policy

The Board received the following additional reports at its meeting on 9 March 2021 which was again
held virtually:
•
•
•
•

Annual Report 2019/20
Regulatory Statements
o Revised Funding Strategy Statement
o Revised Investment Strategy Statement
Training Strategy
Business Plan 2021/22

The Board particularly welcomed and supported the Training Strategy which will aid both the
Committee and Board to meet their respective responsibilities in relation to the knowledge and skills
requirements of the roles. A version of the National Knowledge Assessment tool prepared by
Hymans Robertson will be used in 2021/22 to aid the development of the training plan to be
delivered.
At the March 2021 meeting, the Board also support the undertaking of an independent Governance
Review by AON. As part of this Board members were invited to partake a survey prepared by AON
and the March 2021 meeting was observed by AON. The Board look forward to receiving the review
findings in 2021/22. It is envisaged that the review will develop the work plan for the Board in
2021/22

Future Work Programme
The key responsibilities as set out above will continue to be covered by the Board in 2021/22,
including the review of the Annual Report and Business Plan.
The Board will review the outcomes and proposals of the Governance Review and will look to
develop a workplan on any agreed recommendations to ensure the effective delivery of the
statutory responsibilities of the Committee and Board.
Another key focus area for the Board in 2021/22 will be the preparation for the next triennial
valuation of the Fund due at 31 March 2022. The Board will be invited to provide comments into the
review of the Funding Strategy Statement which will determine the principles to be followed in the
valuation.
Finally, the Board will look to support the Committee in delivering its responsibilities following the
McCloud judgement. There are a number of challenges for the Fund, and the scheme employers,
therefore, the Boards input will be important in determining the Committees final approach and the
onward presentation of these outcomes to the scheme members.

Page 54

Agenda Item 7

Governance Review
Gloucestershire Pension Fund

Prepared for: Gloucestershire County Council
Prepared by: Daniel Kanaris, Karen McWilliam and Scott Campbell
Date: 9 June 2021

Page 55

Governance Review | At a glance…

At a glance…
The purpose of this review is to consider whether
Gloucestershire County Council, the Administering Authority
for the Fund, is meeting good practice in relation to the
governance of the Fund and also recommend any potential
areas for improvement.
The approach taken has been to compare the Administering Authority's
current practices (at a high level) against the Aon governance framework.
The framework considers the following key areas:

Direction – What is the Fund trying to achieve?
▪ Legislation
▪ Strategies and Policies

Delivery – How does the Fund meet its aims?
▪ Business Planning
▪ Performance Monitoring

Decision
We recommend that the
Administering Authority considers
and discusses the
recommendations set out in this
report. We further recommend that
an action plan is developed in
relation to implementing these
recommendations, in order that
progress can be monitored on an
ongoing basis.

▪ Risk Management

Decisions – Does the Fund have effective decision making?
▪ Governance Structure
▪ Behaviour
▪ Pensions Skills and Knowledge

Conclusions and Recommendations
Our overall conclusion is that the governance of the Fund is of a good
standard in many areas, meets legal requirements in the matters we have
considered, and in a number of areas the Administering Authority is
demonstrating best practice. We note that significant improvements in
relation to the governance of the Fund appear to have been made over the
past year or so with a number of policies being put in place over this period,
including a Training Strategy and Risk Register, along with enhancements
to the reports provided to the Pension Committee and the Fund's Business
plan.
We note that the Fund:
▪ has an administration strategy in place, which is an optional strategy but
is key to the delivery of services to the Fund's stakeholders.
▪ has good quality performance monitoring information. We understand
that historically this information has generally focused on investment
performance monitoring, but we note that the Fund's quarterly update has

2

Aon

Page 56

Governance Review | At a glance…

recently been developed to include all areas of Fund performance,
including funding, administration, governance and communications.
▪ has clear evidence of appropriate debate and discussion by the Pension
Committee. This is currently particularly the case when reviewing the
investment strategy.
▪ appears to make good use of officers and advisers' expertise to assist
with decision making.
▪ shows evidence of good quality training for the Pension Committee albeit
that this appears to have reduced over the past 12 months as a result of
the pandemic.
▪ has strong chairs of both the Pension Committee and Pension Board,
although noting that the chair of the Pension Committee has just recently
changed.
We also identified some areas which could potentially be improved, and we
have therefore made some recommendations, including the following:
Policies and procedures
▪ developing a Fund Risk Management Policy, to be approved by the
Pension Committee. We recommend that this policy is developed to
provide a clearer risk management framework (obviously incorporating
the existing risk register).
▪ developing a Fund Conflict of Interest policy covering all stakeholders.
▪ updating the Administering Authority's Discretionary Policy.
▪ updating the Fund's Governance Compliance Statement to ensure that
this is consistent with the Governance Policy Statement.
▪ undertaking a detailed review of the Fund's practices against The
Pensions Regulator's Code of Practice once the new single consolidated
code of practice has been implemented.
▪ ensuring that the Fund's new Training Strategy is successfully
implemented to ensure that all Pension Committee members, Pension
Board members and the Fund officers get sufficient training on all
aspects of the Pension Fund.
▪ ensuring that the Fund develops its own identity separate from the
Council, for example having different branding to the Council and creating
a much more distinctly separate Fund website (or distinctly separate
section within the Council's website).
Pension Committee / Pension Board
▪ considering a change to the way that the Pension Committee is
constituted. We note that the Committee is made up of six County
Councillors, one voting District Councillor and one non-voting scheme
member representative. We recommend that it is considered whether the
Committee could have further representation from other employers in the
Fund, and potentially also increasing the number of scheme member
representatives.

Aon

Information
We provide further information
in relation to our conclusions
and recommendations in the
main body of this report.

3

Page 57

Governance Review | At a glance…

▪ ensuring that the Pension Committee appropriately covers all areas of the
Fund, including funding, administration, communications and governance
in addition to investment.
▪ considering increasing the number of Pension Board meetings each year.

4

Aon

Page 58

Governance Review | Contents

Contents
At a glance…

2

Introduction

6

Governance Framework

8

Direction – What are you trying to achieve?

13

Delivery – How do you meet your aims?

25

Decisions – Do you have effective decision making?

29

Effectiveness Questionnaires

45

Further information

48

▪

Appendix A – Reference Material

49

▪

Appendix B – Effectiveness Questionnaires

50

Aon

5

Page 59

Governance Review | Introduction

Introduction
Contact us

Purpose and Scope
This paper sets out the findings of Aon's governance review of the
Gloucestershire Pension Fund (the "Fund"). Gloucestershire County
Council (the "Administering Authority") is responsible for managing and
administering the Fund, which is part of the Local Government Pension
Scheme ("LGPS").
The purpose of this review is to consider whether the Administering
Authority for the Fund is meeting good practice in relation to the
governance of the Fund and also recommend any potential areas for
improvement. We have compared the Administering Authority's practices
against the Aon governance framework which considers areas such as the
role and effectiveness of the Pension Committee ("PC") and Pension Board
("PB"), how the PC takes advice, and the key documents and policies that
govern the Fund. The Aon governance framework is explained further in
the next section of this report.

We hope the information contained
within this report is useful to
Gloucestershire County Council in
considering how best to govern the
Fund in the future. As you can see,
the findings are positive in most
places.
We look forward to answering any
questions in relation to the report,
and particularly any areas where
we have highlighted that
improvements could be made.

As part of our review we have also had regard, at a strategic level, to the
expected requirements arising from the SAB Good Governance project and
TPR's new Code of Practice and have made reference to these documents
throughout this report as appropriate.
The review has generally been carried out a high level and has not involved
any detailed investigation into services such as administration,
communications, funding or investments. Accordingly, it does not provide
any technical comment in relation to any of these areas. We have,
however, provided some more detailed comments on the Funding Strategy
Statement and Investment Strategy Statement as requested. This is
included in the 'Direction – What are you trying to achieve?' section. These
documents have been reviewed by an Aon actuary and investment
consultant respectively.
The review does include consideration, at a high level, of the legal
requirements relating to governance, for example, the requirement to
publish certain policies and strategies under LGPS legislation. Although it
includes some legal elements, these are presented by us in our capacity as
pension consultants and not as legal experts, and as such nothing in this
report should be considered as legal advice.

Research
The information upon which this review has been based has been gathered
in a number of ways:

Information

▪ Desk-top review of key reports, strategies and policies governing the
scheme and web information. The documents considered are listed in
Appendix A.

We would like to thank the
officers and members of the PC
and PB for their assistance
throughout this review.

6

Aon

Page 60

Governance Review | Introduction

▪ Effectiveness questionnaires were provided to all PC and PB members to
gather their views on areas such as the length of the meetings, how
topics are presented, whether the members feel confident when making
decisions, whether the members understand risk and strategy, and their
general engagement in matters. The results of the questionnaire are
summarised in Appendix B.
▪ Our observations from attending PC and PB meetings in March 2021.
▪ Informal discussions with Matthew Trebilcock, Head of Pensions at the
Fund, in relation to information found as part of the desktop review of
current practices and procedures.

Aon

7

Page 61

Governance Review | Governance Framework

Governance Framework
This section describes Aon’s best practice framework against which this review was
conducted.
There are some key benefits from having effective governance in place, including:
▪ Robust risk management that can assist in preventing issues from arising, or at least reducing their impact
should they arise
▪ Ensuring resources and time are appropriately focussed
▪ Timely decision making and implementation of change
▪ A clear view of how the Fund is being operated for the Pension Committee (or equivalent).
At Aon, we have a number of beliefs when it comes to achieving good governance including:
▪ Direction – having clear strategies and policies that also meet legislative requirements are fundamental
▪ Delivery – having a clear plan for implementing the Fund's strategies and policies, together with appropriate
monitoring as to whether they are being achieved, and good risk management ensure effective and efficient
delivery
▪ Decisions – having an appropriate governance structure, involving the right people, with the right attitude and
the appropriate skills and knowledge is key.
These beliefs are shown in the following diagram and described in more detail below.

8

Aon

Page 62

Governance Review | Governance Framework

Aon governance framework
Direction – What are you trying to achieve?

Legislation and guidance

The Fund's strategies and policies should be in line with legislative
requirements and any related professional guidance.

Strategies and policies

The Fund's strategies and policies should clearly set out the aims, principles,
protocols and environment for how the Fund is managed. The strategies and
policies:
 should be wide ranging covering all key areas including funding,
investments, finance, administration, communications and governance itself
 should be clearly articulated, to provide a framework within which those
managing the Fund are able to operate
 should provide the focus for all future decisions and plans
 should be agreed by those responsible for governing the Fund.

Delivery – How do you meet your aims?

Business Planning

The Fund should have an approved business plan, with associated budget,
setting out required activities in the forthcoming period. Those activities:
 should be driven by the Fund's strategies and policies
 will include activities driven by changes in overriding legislation.

Performance
Measurement

Those responsible for governing the Fund should be provided with appropriate
performance information. Measurements should:
 demonstrate whether the Fund's aims are being achieved
 cover the full range of key areas (e.g. investments, funding, governance,
communications and administration)
 demonstrate whether the Fund's business plan is being achieved
 be updated in accordance with appropriate timescales
 be presented in a manner that is easy to follow and understandable to those
governing the Fund
 assist in identifying changes to the Fund's business plan, strategies, polices
and aims.
The Fund should also be considering compliance against The Pensions
Regulator's Code of Practice.

Risk Management

Effective risk management is critical to minimise the impact and/or probability
of unfortunate events and to maximise the realisation of opportunities. It
should be:
 aligned with the Fund's aims
 a key consideration in decision making
 systematic or structured

Aon

9

Page 63

Governance Review | Governance Framework

 an integral part of the Administering Authority's processes and procedures
on a daily basis.
Decisions – Do you have effective decision making?

Governance structure

There is no one 'correct' governance structure. The Administering Authority's
structure should:
 have clear terms of reference
 have a clearly documented scheme of delegation
 allow decision making at the appropriate level
 allow quick decision making where appropriate
 include appropriate representation from stakeholders
 ensure there is sufficient diversity of thought/approach amongst those
tasked with making decisions
 involve well-presented information/reports
 allow sufficient time for discussion where necessary
 have good quality (committee) administration (e.g. issuing papers in good
time)
 involve a process for managing conflicts
 provide transparency to stakeholders where appropriate.

Behaviour

A good governance structure will not be effective unless it involves the right
people with the right attitude. Individuals should:
 have a high level of attendance at meetings and training
 demonstrate integrity in relation to their Fund role
 be engaged and provide appropriate challenge
 be accountable for the decisions made
 highlight any potential conflicts they may have
 for a Chairperson, manage the meetings fairly without any bias to individuals
or self and enable all attendees to express their views or opinions openly
 prepare adequately for meetings.

Skills and knowledge

A critical element is the need for those managing the Fund to have the
appropriate level of knowledge and skills. Administering Authorities should:
 clearly articulate the knowledge and skills requirements in a Fund policy
 provide ongoing training in an effective and suitable manner to meet those
requirements
 regularly review whether knowledge aspirations are being met
 ensure they rely appropriately on officers and advisers to provide expert
knowledge.

10

Aon

Page 64

Governance Review | Governance Framework

RAG rating
Throughout this report we have included comments which we hope are useful to the Administering Authority in
highlighting areas of good practice but also identifying areas for potential improvement. To provide some greater
clarity on the intention of our comments and allow these areas to be quickly identified, we have included
graphics to illustrate whether they are:
▪

 positive – meets legal requirements, national guidance and good practice.

▪

 neutral – meets legal practice, in the main, but could be improved to meet good practice or national
guidance.

▪

 negative – requires improvement as it does not appear to meet legal requirements or practices we
consider key to good governance.

Throughout this report we have provided comments in relation to the results of the Effectiveness Questionnaires
and also from our observations from attending the March 2021 PC and PB meetings to help explain how we
have reached our conclusions.

Expected Changes to Governance in the LGPS
We are going through a period of fundamental change in the LGPS driven by changes made by Government or
other bodies. There are three specific areas that are expected to impact on the governance of the LGPS that
we have tried to have some regard to within our review, particularly as many of the expected requirements align
with Aon's governance framework. We have highlighted throughout the report within our comments many of the
specific elements of these changes, which will allow the Administering Authority to make progress in these
areas in advance of final guidance or regulations. We recommend that the PC and PB familiarise themselves
and continue to monitor these developments. Further information on the three areas is as follows:

Scheme Advisory Board – Good Governance report
The SAB published its final report on the Good Governance project in February 2021 and have made a formal
request to MHCLG and other bodies to implement the recommendations from the project. SAB will be identifying
and promoting best practice in the LGPS to assist in taking forward the recommendations made. In addition to
this, MHCLG would need to implement some of the changes identified either by amending regulations or via
statutory guidance. It may be some months before there are further developments due to other national
priorities.

The Pensions Regulator's New Code
There are a number of key requirements relating to the management and operations of public service pension
schemes which are outlined in TPR's Code of Practice Number 14 - Governance and Administration of Public
Service Pension Schemes ("TPR's Code of Practice"). Some of the aspects of the Code are driven by
overriding legislation and the Fund is expected to meet the standards and practice within the Code, even though
the Code itself is not a statement of the law.
TPR recently consulted on a new single consolidated code of practice ("New Code") which is expected to
replace Code of Practice 14 later this year.
TPR's New Code brings together 10 existing codes of practice, including Code of Practice 14 (Governance and
Administration of Public Service Pension Schemes), into a single modular (on-line) code which will apply to all
UK pension schemes. At the time of writing the New Code is in draft given it is being consulted on.

Aon

11

Page 65

Governance Review | Governance Framework

CIPFA's Knowledge and Skills Code and Framework
Working with Aon, CIPFA is refreshing its knowledge and skills framework, bringing together and updating
content from previous documents:
▪ The Pensions Finance Knowledge and Skills Framework – Technical Guidance for Pensions Practitioners in
the Public Sector (published 2010) and
▪ The Pensions Finance Knowledge and Skills Framework – Technical Guidance for Elected Representatives
and Non-executive Members in the Public Sector (published 2010).
It will also be publishing a new Code of Practice based on the Code of Practice on Public Sector Pensions
Finance Knowledge and Skills (published 2013).
The new Framework will apply to PC members and Senior Officers and is expected to reflect developments
such as the Pensions Regulator's involvement in LGPS, Pooling, MIFID II and the increasing focus on
Responsible Investment. It is also expected to better link to other areas such as the Good Governance
recommendations from the Scheme Advisory Board.
At the time of writing, the date of publication has not yet been confirmed but is expected to be in June.

12

Aon

Page 66

Governance Review | Direction – What are you trying to achieve?

Direction – What are you
trying to achieve?
In this section, we consider whether the Fund has clear strategies and
policies which meet the following requirements:
▪ The Fund's strategies and policies should be in line with legislative
requirements and any related professional guidance.
▪ The Fund's strategies and policies should clearly set out the aims,
principles, protocols and environment for how the Fund is managed. The
strategies and policies:
– should be wide ranging covering all key areas including funding,
investments, finance, administration, communications and governance
itself
– should be clearly articulated, to provide a framework within which those
managing the Fund are able to operate
– should provide the focus for all future decisions and plans
– should be agreed by those responsible for governing the Fund.
In the table that follows, we summarise the key policies and strategies
which we would expect to be in place for a well governed LGPS Fund,
considering both legal requirements and best practice. Note that we have
not considered the principles or methodology within these documents,
given that this review is focussed on governance matters and not, for
example, on the quality of actuarial or investment matters. We have,
however, reviewed the Funding Strategy Statement and Investment
Strategy Statement in a bit more detail and provide our comments on these
documents below the table.
We have indicated in the table whether the documents are;
▪ legally required under the LGPS, or
▪ expected in accordance with CIPFA, LGPS Scheme Advisory Board
("SAB") or The Pensions Regulator's ("TPR") Guidance or Codes (many
of which have some element of statutory backing),
and we then consider whether they are currently in place for the Fund and
whether they meet these legal requirements, or any requirements laid out
in Guidance or Codes.
We also consider the quality and structure of these policies and strategies.
For example, it is important that the PC is fully engaged in the development
of all strategies and policies, whilst receiving appropriate advice and
expertise from the officers and advisers of the Fund as well as the PB. It
must therefore be clear that strategies and policies are part of PC and PB
business and are subject to ongoing review.

Aon

Information
When reviewing these policies
and strategies, we consider
both legal requirements and
best practice. Note that we
have not generally considered
the principles or methodology
within these documents, given
that this review is focussed on
governance matters.

13

Page 67

Strategy / Policy
Funding Strategy
Statement (FSS)

Fund Version? / Version Legal or National
Adherence to Legislation and Guidance
Date
Guidance Requirement
Yes – Effective March
LGPS Regulations
 Meets requirements and appears to follow
2021
CIPFA FSS Guidance the CIPFA guidance.
It is noted that we anticipate that the
Administering Authority will next be reviewing
the Strategy in tandem with the 2022 actuarial
valuation and, as part of that exercise, will be
updating it in line with the updated CIPFA
guidance which is expected soon.

Yes - published March
Investment
2021
Strategy Statement
(ISS)

LGPS Regulations

 Meets requirements in the Regulations

Page 68

Compliance Statement  The latest Brunel Pool policies on socially
against CIPFA guidance responsible investing are made available on
on the Myners Principles the Gloucestershire County Council website.
in the LGPS
Reference to this is also included in the ISS.

Process, decision making or more general
observations
 The FSS and actuarial valuation were considered
by the PC at its March 2021 meeting.
 It is also clear that they took appropriate advice
from the actuary.

 The ISS sets out who the PC have taken advice
from in preparing the ISS, but it does not appear to
clearly set out if any and which appropriate persons
have been consulted on the ISS as required by the
Regulations.

 No Myners Compliance statement is readily
available. Although this is no longer required by
MHCLG guidance, CIPFA does continue to
recommend that a statement of compliance
should be developed and maintained. We
understand that the Fund did previously have a
Myners Compliance statement which used to
form part of the Statement of Investment
Principles (now superseded by the ISS) and
was contained in earlier versions of the annual
report.
Governance Policy
Statement and
Governance
Compliance
Statement

Yes – updated version of
Governance Policy
Statement to February
2020.
Latest version of
Governance Compliance
Statement is dated July
2017.

LGPS Regulations

 The Governance Policy Statement /
Compliance Statement Governance Compliance Statement provides
the information that is required by the Local
against Secretary of
Government Pension Scheme Regulations
State guidance
2013.

Aon

 We note that the Governance Policy Statement
was reviewed in February 2020. However, the
Compliance Statement is dated July 2017. We
would generally expect these to be reviewed in
conjunction with each other. In addition, the
Governance Policy Statement states that the
Compliance Statement is included as an appendix
to the main document, but no appendix is included.
We can find both documents on the website, but it
may be easier for readers to include these within
the same document. We understand that an

Governance Review | Direction – What are you trying to achieve?

14

Strategies and policies – meeting key requirements

Aon

Strategy / Policy

Fund Version? / Version
Date

Legal or National
Adherence to Legislation and Guidance
Guidance Requirement

Process, decision making or more general
observations
updated Compliance Statement has been drafted
by the Administering Authority, but this has not
been finalised and approved by the PC.
We note that as part of the SAB Good Governance
review one of the recommendations is that each
administering authority must publish an annual
governance compliance statement that sets out
how they comply with the governance requirements
for LGPS funds as set out in the MHCLG guidance
that will be published. Therefore, in due course,
when that guidance is published, the existing
compliance statement will need to be reviewed to
ensure it is in line with the new guidance.

Yes – August 2018

LGPS Regulations

Yes – September 1999

LGPS Regulations –
basic element only

15

 The only Administering Authority
 There are a range of discretionary provisions in
Discretionary Policy dates from September
the LGPS regulations, such as the charging of
1999, and therefore is based on very out of
interest on late contributions or how to determine
date LGPS regulations. We therefore
who should receive a death grant, which strictly do
recommend that this policy is updated to refer not have to be included in the published
to the current Regulations and approved by the Discretionary Policy statement. It is best practice to
PC as soon as possible. Once updated we
have a fuller policy which allows all or most
recommend that this policy is included on your discretions to be approved by the PC or, given its
website.
focus on low risk matters, by officers if delegated
powers are provided. It should, however, be
worded appropriately to ensure that it does not
fetter future discretion in relation to these powers.

Governance Review | Direction – What are you trying to achieve?

Page 69

 We would expect the policy to have been
approved by the PC, but this is not set out in the
policy itself. We recommend that the approval
process and date is clearly set out in the policy.
 We understand that a review of this policy was
due to be undertaken in 2019/20 but this did not
take place. However, we further understand that
this will be reviewed following the outcome of this
governance review. As part of that review we also
recommend considering your approach to diversity,
equality and inclusion ("D, E & I") in how you
communicate with your stakeholders.

Communications
Policy

Administering
Authority
Discretionary Policy

 Meets all requirements.

Administration
Strategy

Fund Version? / Version Legal or National
Adherence to Legislation and Guidance
Date
Guidance Requirement
Yes - Effective from April LGPS Regulations, (as  Meets all requirements.
2017
an optional strategy)
 Whilst having an Administration Strategy is
currently optional, we note that a
recommendation within the SAB Good
Governance review is that each administering
authority should publish an Administration
Strategy, and MHCLG have been asked to
make this a legal requirement.

Risk Management Policy - CIPFA Guidance
Risk Management
no
Policy & Strategy /
Risk register – Yes, March
Risk register
2021

Process, decision making or more general
observations
 The Regulations do not set out specific
timescales for reviewing the Administration Strategy
but given that this was last reviewed 4 years ago
the Administering Authority may wish to consider an
appropriate time to review this document.

Page 70

 No explicit Risk Management Policy in place.
We are aware that both the ISS and FSS have
sections relating to risk management, but these
will focus on specific risks relating to
investments and funding respectively. We
recommend that the Fund sets up its own Risk
Management Policy clearly setting out the risk
philosophy of the Fund and the process for
monitoring and managing risk in the Fund. This
policy should cover all the key areas set out in
the CIPFA guidance.
 A Risk Register is available and meets most
best practice elements and we are pleased to
see that this covers governance and regulatory
risks, along with financial risks.

Annual report and
accounts

Yes – 2019/20

LGPS Regulations
CIPFA Guidance
"Preparing the Annual
Report"
CIPFA accounting
guidance

Knowledge and
Skills/Training
Policy

Yes – April 2021

CIPFA & SAB

Draft Fund Training Plan TPR Code of Practice
2021/2022 – 2022/2023
provided

 Meets all LGPS Regulatory requirements.

 This was considered and approved at the
Please note that, due to the detailed nature of December 2020 PC.
CIPFA’s accounting guidance, we have not
considered adherence to their guidance. We
expect this will have been considered by the
Fund’s auditors.
 Training Strategy recently put in place and it
appears that all key elements are considered.
 The policy includes requirements for the PC,
PB, Fund officers and Participating Employers.

Governance Review | Direction – What are you trying to achieve?

16

Strategy / Policy

Aon

Aon

Strategy / Policy

Fund Version? / Version Legal or National
Adherence to Legislation and Guidance
Process, decision making or more general
Date
Guidance Requirement
observations
No
SAB – required for PB  Not in place for the PB. We understand that  Although not (yet) explicit in any legislation or
Conflicts of Interest
only
the Fund currently relies on the Council's
guidance, it would be good practice to have a wider
Policy
Conflicts of Interest Policy.
Fund Conflicts of Interest Policy applying to all
stakeholders, and this is mentioned as part of the
CIPFA annual report guidance. This should
highlight differences between the Council's
requirements in relation to declarations for elected
members and officers as well as ensuring other
parties (observers and advisers) are fully aware of
expectations. We also note that a recommendation
within the SAB Good Governance review is for a
Fund Conflicts of Interest Policy to be required by
statutory guidance.
Breaches of the
Law Procedure

 Meets requirements

 The policy does not include an effective date /
date it was last reviewed. We understand that this
was last reviewed in 2016. We note that the policy
does state that it will be reviewed and approved by
the PC at least annually, but we are unsure whether
this has taken place.

 We understand that a breaches log is in place,
but we have not had sight of this to verify its
suitability (and given this is a requirement within
The Pensions Regulator's Code of Practice we
have highlighted this point as an immediate
improvement point). We recommend that this
breaches log is regularly updated and taken to PC
and PB for information.
Employer
(admission / exit /
bulk transfer) Policy

None – good practice
only

 Not in place. Some funds put in place
N/A
admission, exit and bulk transfer policies to
provide greater detail and expand on some of
the areas in the FSS. We have had a very highlevel look through your FSS and note that it
appears that the Fund's policies on new
employers, exits and bulk transfers are
included in the FSS. However, you may wish to
consider whether you are comfortable

17

Governance Review | Direction – What are you trying to achieve?

Page 71

Yes, no obvious date of Pensions Act 2004
policy but we understand TPR Code of Practice
that this was last reviewed
in 2016.

Fund Version? / Version
Date

Legal or National
Adherence to Legislation and Guidance
Guidance Requirement
continuing with this approach or whether to
have separate policies on this.

Process, decision making or more general
observations

Page 72

TPR Code of Practice
Data Improvement No Data Improvement
Policy or Plan currently in
place

 We understand that the Fund do the
common / scheme specific scoring through
Aquila Heywood but currently no formal data
improvement policy or plan is in place. Having
a clearly set out data improvement plan is
critically important, but ideally having a Data
Improvement Policy is good practice too.

Business Continuity Nothing Fund specific
Policy/Plan

Expected in TPR New
Code

 The Fund currently relies on the Council's
For security purposes we would not expect these
approach to Business Continuity. We
documents to be made publicly available.
recommend that it is best practice for the Fund
to have its own Business Continuity Policy /
Plan and we note that we expect this to be
included in the TPR's New Code. We
understand that a Fund Business Continuity
Policy is currently being prepared.

Nothing Fund specific

TPR Guidance and
expected in TPR New
Code

 The Fund currently relies on the Council's
approach to Cyber Security. We recommend
that the Fund considers developing a Fund
specific Cyber Policy / Strategy.

Cyber Strategy

For security purposes we would not expect these
documents to be made publicly available.

Governance Review | Direction – What are you trying to achieve?

18

Strategy / Policy

Aon

Aon

General comments on Strategies and policies

 The Fund has the key policies in place and generally they appear to meet the main requirements set out in legislation and guidance. We note that some
of these policies have been set up over the last year or so, e.g. the Fund's Training Strategy. This is pleasing to see but it is important that the Fund now
ensure that appropriate procedures are put in place to ensure adherence to these policies.

 It is worth highlighting that finding the various policies set out above was not particularly easy. We generally had to do a Google search on the name of
the policy rather than being able to find these easily through the website. We note that the Fund does not have its own dedicated website and information
about the Fund is contained on the Gloucestershire County Council website. Certain information about the Fund is contained on this page but it is fairly
limited / not easily found via the links on that page. The Fund may wish to consider setting up its own website, or at least ensure that the Fund's section on
the Council's website is easy to find, distinguishable from the Council, e.g. by having its own branding, and has clear links to all of the Fund's policies and
strategies. We would note that a Fund having its own website is good practice and is becoming increasingly more common practice across the LGPS. It is
then best practice to include a Fund policies and strategies section which includes links to the Fund's latest policy documents.

 Some of the policies do not appear to have been reviewed for a few years.

We are pleased to see in the Fund's business plan (see further comments
on this in the next section) that a review of the Fund's policies is planned for Q2 – Q4 2021/22. However, we recommend that the Fund's business plan
more explicitly clarifies the timescale for reviewing each individual policy or strategy to ensure that these policies are kept under regular review. We have
included some comments in the table above that could potentially improve the policies that the Fund should consider as part of their review.

Page 73

Document structure / key contents

▪ Introduction including any relevant legislation and guidance
▪ The Fund's aims / objectives in this area
▪ What measurement / monitoring will be carried out in relation to those aims / objectives
▪ The key risks relating to the strategy and how they are being managed / monitored
▪ Who was consulted on the drafting of the strategy / policy
▪ When / how it was approved
▪ The effective date of the strategy / policy
▪ When it will next be reviewed
▪ The roles and responsibilities of the key parties responsible for delivering the strategy (e.g. PC, officers, fund managers, advisers etc.).
In addition, we recommend that the latest version of all of these key documents is made available on the Fund / Council website. We show in the following
tables whether or not these elements are contained in the Fund's key documents, where we consider them appropriate.
19

Governance Review | Direction – What are you trying to achieve?

As a general principle we also recommend that any strategy or policy document should include the following elements in addition to the main
contents/purpose of the document:

Strategy / Policy Elements

FSS

ISS

Governance

Communications

Discretionary

Administration

Introduction including any relevant legislation and
guidance

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

The Fund's aims / objectives

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes (part of risks)

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Key risks and how they are being managed /
monitored

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

Yes

Who was consulted

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

When / how it was approved

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Effective date

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

When it will next be reviewed

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

Yes

The roles and responsibilities of the key parties

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

On website

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Strategy / Policy Elements

Risk

Training

Conflicts

Breaches

Employer

Introduction including any relevant legislation and
guidance

No policy in place

Yes

No policy in place

Yes

No policy in place

The Fund's aims / objectives

N/A

Yes

N/A

Yes

N/A

Measurement / monitoring requirements

N/A

Yes

N/A

Yes

N/A

Key risks and how they are being managed /
monitored

N/A

Yes

N/A

No

N/A

Who was consulted

N/A

No

N/A

Yes

N/A

When / how it was approved

N/A

No

N/A

Yes

N/A

Effective date

N/A

Yes

N/A

No

N/A

N/A

Measurement / monitoring requirements

Page 74

When it will next be reviewed

N/A

Yes

N/A

Policy states annual
review but does not
appear to have
been done

The roles and responsibilities of the key parties

N/A

Yes

N/A

Yes

N/A

On website

N/A

Yes

N/A

Yes

N/A

Governance Review | Direction – What are you trying to achieve?

20

Strategies and policies – document structure

Aon

Aon

 As you can see from the tables above, many of the policies follow good practice by incorporating these key elements. Further, most of the key policies
are available on the Council's website (although note our comments above about ease of finding these policies). We recommend that within the review of
the Fund's policies that the structure of each policy is reviewed to ensure all the key elements identified above are incorporated.

21

Governance Review | Direction – What are you trying to achieve?

Page 75

Governance Review | Direction – What are you trying to achieve?

Adherence to The Pensions Regulator Code of Practice
In addition to the LGPS regulations, CIPFA and SAB guidance, there are a number of key requirements relating
to the management and operations of public service pensions schemes which are outlined in TPR's Code of
Practice Number 14 - Governance and administration of public service pension schemes ("TPR's Code of
Practice").
TPR recently consulted on a new single consolidated code of practice ("New Code") which is expected to replace
Code of Practice 14 later this year.
TPR's New Code brings together 10 existing codes of practice, including Code of Practice 14 (Governance and
Administration of Public Service Pension Schemes), into a single modular (on-line) code which will apply to all UK
pension schemes. At the time of writing the New Code is in draft given it is being consulted on but some key
points for the Fund to be aware of that are new include (this is not exhaustive list but is intended to highlight some
potential areas of work for the Fund once the new Code is in place):


Administration modules: There are seven new administration modules for the public sector schemes, and
these cover all the main operational procedures. Most of the requirements here were already set out in the
existing Code of Practice but a key requirement is making sure everything is appropriately documented by the
Fund. For example, documenting policies for maintaining IT systems is likely to be an area that is new to the
Fund. In addition, a new module on 'Cyber controls' now elevates this area to Code (from existing guidance)
and will require the Fund to ensure cyber security measures and controls are in place as part of your internal
controls.



Governing Body modules: This includes a new module called 'Recordings of meetings and decisions made'.
There may be some points of detail in existing policies which need to be reviewed by the Fund, for example
documenting any decisions taken outside of meetings within the minutes of the next meeting. There is a "best
practice" module 'Remuneration policy', which recommends that there is a written and published
remuneration policy covering key personnel involved in running the scheme, which is reviewed at least every
3 years (ideally annually). Another best practice module is 'Continuity planning' which sets out the Fund
should have its own continuity plan to document the key actions that would be undertaken under a range of
events, to ensure data and administration are not disrupted.



Communications and disclosure modules: There are new requirements for the Fund here on the principles for
member communications (accurate, clear, concise), use of technology, and accessibility, as well as steps for
mitigating the risk of scams.

The Administering Authority should carry out an evaluation against the New Code's requirements in due course
and address areas of partial compliance and non-compliance in a timely manner. It should also evaluate
compliance on a regular basis. We are not exactly sure of timings at this stage but note that the consultation on
the new Code closed on 26 May 2021.
As a matter of best practice, we would expect all administering authorities to carry out a regular review of their
approach against:


the legal requirements underpinning the TPR Code of Practice, with a view to ensuring that these are being
adhered to, and



the guidance contained within the Code, to consider whether the guidance should be adhered to or an
alternative and justifiable approach should be taken.

This will also be an area of particular interest to the PB as it is part of their statutory responsibility to assist in
ensuring compliance with the TPR's Code of Practice. The Pensions Regulator carries out regular surveys of
public service pension schemes' compliance with the Code and has stated that it expects all schemes to have
assessed themselves against the law and its code of practice.

22

Aon

Page 76

Governance Review | Direction – What are you trying to achieve?

 We understand that currently no formal check against the TPR's Code of Practice has been undertaken.
Although this check has not been carried out, it is worth highlighting that, as part of our review, we have
recognised a number of areas that demonstrate compliance with the TPR's current Code of Practice including the
Fund having a Training Strategy and a Policy for Reporting Breaches of the Law. Given the new Code of Practice
is expected to be released fairly shortly, we recommend carrying out a check against the requirements of the New
Code as soon as it is released. In the interim, a high-level review against its requirements would be advantageous
in identifying any potential areas of concern to allow development work to be planned. If you require any
assistance with the review against the New Code's requirements or would like any further information about the
New Code, then please let us know.

Additional comments on Funding Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy
Statement
As requested, we have reviewed the FSS and ISS in slightly more detail and we set out our comments on these
policies below. These reviews were independently carried out by a qualified actuary (for the FSS) and investment
consultant (for ISS) within Aon to ensure the appropriate expertise. This extends our review from considering
whether these policies meet legal requirements and any requirements laid out in Guidance or Codes, to also
considering whether they include items that we typically see included in these strategies for other LGPS funds
and also include current topical items. However, please note that we have kept our review at a high level, and we
have not reviewed each part of these strategies in detail.
Funding Strategy Statement

 The FSS appears to include all the key sections that we would expect to be included and is generally well set
out and easy to follow.
Our comments on current hot topics for LGPS funds in relation to funding are as follows:

 We note that the Fund has a policy in relation to exit credits, albeit that this is included in a separate
standalone Exit Credit Policy that is referred to in the FSS, rather than being included in the FSS itself (or within a
fund's admissions and exit policy if they have one) which in our experience is the more common approach. It is ok
to have this as a separate standalone policy, but the Fund should ensure that this policy is reviewed alongside
any review of the FSS (we note that the current Exit Credit Policy is dated September 2020 whereas the FSS is
dated March 2021).

 We note that the FSS includes the Administering Authority's policy in relation to employer flexibilities that were
introduced into the LGPS regulations in September 2020. To be able to use these flexibilities, Funds are required
to have a policy on this in their FSS. We note however, that on 2 March 2021 MHCLG published statutory
guidance to assist LGPS administering authorities in implementing their policies on employer flexibilities. More
detailed guidance was also prepared by the Scheme Advisory Board to be read in conjunction with MHCLG's
statutory guidance. It is not clear from the information included in the FSS that the MHCLG guidance has been
followed and we note that the FSS states that it was issued to participating employers for consultation in February
2021 before being finalised in March 2021 so it is possible that the MHCLG guidance was published after the
Fund's policies in this area were written. We recommend that the Fund reviews their current policies in relation to
employer flexibilities to ensure that they contain the information set out in the MHCLG guidance. As an example,
one of the employer flexibilities relates to spreading exit payments. Whilst this is mentioned in the FSS, the
MHCLG guidance sets out a number of matters that the policy should set out, including how the administering
authority will consider the appropriate length of time for an exit payment to be spread, including its view on the
maximum length of any spreading period, the evidence an administering authority would expect to require from a
fund employer to consider the spreading of an exit payment and the indicative timetable for a review (amongst
others). Similar details of matters to be included in the Fund's policies in relation to reviewing employer
contribution rates between Fund valuations and Deferred Debt Agreements are included in the MHCLG guidance.

Aon

23

Page 77

Governance Review | Direction – What are you trying to achieve?

Investment Strategy Statement

 The ISS appears to include all the key sections that we would expect to be included and is generally well set
out and easy to follow, although please note our comment in the table above about documenting the consultation
process.
A current hot topic in relation to investment is Responsible Investment (RI), including Environment, Social and
Governance considerations. A member of our specialist RI team has reviewed the ISS and has made the
following observations:

 The Fund’s articulation of its RI approach is generally good. We note that it is good to see the Fund's
investment beliefs at the back of the ISS refer to RI and climate change and indicate that this has been thought
about in some depth.

 We set out below some observations on how we believe the Fund's policy in relation to RI could be improved
but we would emphasise that these are simply enhancements to the current policy rather than wholesale
revisions. We are pleased to see that both of these points are included in the Fund's Business Plan 2021-22, but
we include these comments below as we feel that these are critical areas that should be reflected in the ISS and
their technical nature means that they require careful consideration.
▪ Stewardship – the ISS notes that the UK Stewardship Code was significantly revised and extended in 2020 and
will be reviewing its policy towards being a signatory. We recommend that once the Fund has reviewed its
policy in this area that the Fund outline in the ISS how it will apply the principles of the Stewardship Code
(whether or not the Fund becomes a signatory). We note that this is covered in the 2016 LGPS (Management
and Investment of Funds) Regulations where the statutory guidance to the regulations states that administering
authorities are encouraged to consider the best way to engage with companies to promote their long-term
success, either directly, in partnership with other investors or through their investment managers, and explain
their policy on stewardship with reference to the Stewardship Code.
▪ Climate change – we note that the ISS includes a good level of detail in relation to climate change, albeit the
majority is from the Pool. Looking ahead a little, we expect MHCLG to introduce legislation requiring LGPS
Funds – at Fund level – to report on climate-related risks, under the TCFD (“Taskforce on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures”) framework. This should therefore be an area the Fund focuses on. We note that there
has been an informal consultation thus far, which Aon were party to, and we expect a formal consultation in the
not too distant future. If you require any further information in relation to the TCFD framework at this stage, then
please let us know.

 We note that the exercise of voting rights is delegated to the Brunel Pension Partnership and to appointed
non-pool managers, which is fine. The ISS notes that voting activity will be published online. Our observation is
that raw voting data in itself doesn’t necessarily provide a complete picture – i.e. it may not be clear from the
number of votes whether this is good or bad. Therefore, if the PC are just seeing these raw numbers it may be
difficult for them to judge how successfully their managers are acting on asset stewardship. What we find can be
more informative is to use highlighted case studies of where ‘significant votes’ have been cast, for example
dissenting against company management, supporting a shareholder resolution, etc. The Fund might therefore
consider how it presents this data and how it reflects upon it to consider the efficacy of its policies and approach.
We note that at the March PC, members of the PC did ask for greater clarity around the information provided
which highlights it can be difficult to understand the complete picture.

24

Aon

Page 78

Governance Review | Delivery – How do you meet your aims?

Delivery – How do you
meet your aims?
In this section we consider whether the Fund:
▪ has a business plan in place
▪ are provided with appropriate performance measurement information
▪ has effective risk management processes and policies in place

Business Planning
A Fund's business plan should set out all planned activities in the
forthcoming period. Those activities:
▪ should be driven by objectives of the Fund's strategies and policies
▪ will include activities driven by changes in overriding legislation.

 The Fund has an annual business plan in place, and it is available on
the Council's website. The 2021/22 business plan was approved at the
March 2021 PC meeting and was also presented to the PB at their March
2021 meeting. We note that the minutes of the PB meeting state that a
work plan will now be developed to reflect activities at a high level. The
minutes also state that the PB commended the Pensions team on their
efforts and stated it was evident that a huge amount of work was being
undertaken in order to give a clear direction of travel going forward.

 The Business plan clearly sets out the aims and objectives for the
management of the Fund and includes high level details of ongoing
activities and key challenges and influences. The Plan then provides details
of the key tasks / work plan for 2021/22 setting out the key tasks for each
quarter and it also includes a training plan.
 The key tasks and priorities within the business plan do include a large
number of areas that we would consider business as usual (such as
production of annual benefit statements and monitoring fund performance
from an investment perspective). We find it can be helpful to separately
identify new requirements (which might include significant changes to
existing requirements) from those that are business as usual, so the impact
on resources is much clearer. For example, an area we would expect to be
included is TPR's New Code.
 We also recommend that the business plan be in relation to a three year
rolling period (albeit years two and three would not need to be split into
quarters). This will assist in longer term awareness; for example, being
clearer when policies or strategies need to be reviewed, or when advisers’
contracts are due for retender. It can also help with understanding the
resource implications on longer term initiatives, such as implementing

Aon

25

Page 79

Governance Review | Delivery – How do you meet your aims?

changes to investment strategy (including responsible investment policy) or
the McCloud rectification work.
 We note that the Business Plan for 2021/22 refers to a Risk
Management Policy amongst a list of the Fund's policies. As mentioned in
the previous section we are not aware that such a policy currently exists,
although it may be planned that this is picked up as part of the review of the
Fund's policies which is scheduled to take place this year.

Performance Measurement
Those responsible for governing the Fund should be provided with
appropriate performance information. Measurements should:
▪ demonstrate whether the Fund's aims are being achieved
▪ cover the full range of key areas (e.g. investments, funding, governance,
communications and administration)
▪ demonstrate whether the Fund's business plan is being achieved
▪ be updated in accordance with appropriate timescales
▪ be presented in a manner that is easy to follow and understandable to
those governing the Fund
▪ assist in identifying potential changes to the Fund's business plan,

 At the March PC meeting, a quarterly update report was presented by
Matthew Trebilcock, Head of Pensions, which included an update on the
Fund's investment performance and strategy, funding position and fund
administration. There was praise from members of the PC regarding the
information provided from Matthew and it was noted that this was a
significant improvement on the previous information provided.

 We were pleased to see that funding and administration were covered
in the quarterly update report, in addition to investment, as we understand
that historically a lot of focus at PC has been given to the investment
performance of the Fund. Whilst investment is obviously important it is also
critical that the PC are also provided with information in relation to
monitoring of other areas such as funding, governance, administration and
communication matters. This ensures that the PC is provided with sufficient
information to allow them to identify successes or issues in the running of
the Fund, such as delays in paying or notifying scheme benefits, resourcing
issues or concerns with employer covenant arrangements.
This point was also highlighted within the responses to the questionnaires,
with all respondents stating that sufficient time was spent on investment,
whereas a number of respondents stated that a bit more time could be
spent on funding, administration, governance and communications.
Following the implementation of the updated quarterly update report it is
important that the PC ensure that they take sufficient interest in all aspects
of the running the Fund and that funding, administration, governance and
communications are given appropriate time at each meeting.
In general, we recommend that administering authorities review their wider
monitoring arrangements to ensure all of the Fund's aims and objectives as

26

Aon

Page 80

Governance Review | Delivery – How do you meet your aims?

articulated in the key strategies and policies are subject to ongoing
monitoring at appropriate timescales. We would expect this to include
areas such as:
▪ regular reporting of turnaround times and more qualitative measures in
relation to the performance targets set out in the administration strategy
▪ regular consideration of funding matters, such as funding levels,
employer covenants and cash-flows, specifically focussed on the key
objectives of the funding strategy statement
We would also expect ongoing monitoring reports to share information such
as:
▪ identified breaches of the law (both those reported to TPR and those
simply recorded by the Fund)
▪ monitoring progress against the Fund's budget including expected
income and expenditure
▪ monitoring progress against the Fund's training strategy and plans
▪ monitoring of key tasks included within the annual business plan.
It is possible to contain much of this information within a summary
scorecard or another simple method of indicating at a high level any areas
that are not meeting the requirements (but equally allowing PC members to
easily identify how well the Fund is also doing). We note that a number of
the above areas are included in the Fund's updated quarterly update report.

Risk Management
Effective risk management is critical in minimising the impact and/or
probability of undesirable events and in maximising the realisation of
opportunities. Risk Management should be:
▪ aligned with the Fund's aims
▪ a key consideration in decision making
▪ systematic or structured
▪ an integral part of the Administering Authority's processes and
procedures on a daily basis.

 As already mentioned, the Fund does not have a specific risk

management policy in place, although it does have a Fund specific risk
register which is included within the quarterly PC meeting packs. The risk
register includes financial, legislative and regulatory, fraud, service
continuity and governance amongst the risk categories. Areas of risk
management are included within the ISS and FSS, but we recommend that
the Fund should have a specific Risk Management Policy in place with
appropriately documented internal controls. This is a key element of the
day to day management of the Fund and is expected to be in place
according to:

▪ CIPFA's guidance to managing risk in the LGPS (which particularly
highlights that there is a great deal more to risk management in the LGPS
than simply investment risk)
▪ CIPFA's Myners LGPS guidance
▪ The Pensions Regulator's Code of Practice.

Aon

27

Page 81

Governance Review | Delivery – How do you meet your aims?

 As part of the Risk Management Policy, the Administering Authority
may want to consider reviewing how their risks are considered by
establishing a target risk rating. This can be particularly effective given
that retaining an element of risk can sometimes be advantageous from a
pension fund perspective, and therefore it is important not to try to reduce
all risks to the lowest rating. This approach is referred to in CIPFA's
guidance to managing risk in the LGPS.

 It is worth highlighting that the responses to the questionnaire do
appear to show that the majority of the PC members feel they understand
the key risks to the Fund and feel that the risk register which is discussed
at each quarterly meeting is useful in monitoring and managing the key
risks to the Fund.

28

Aon

Page 82

Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making?

Decisions – Do you have
effective decision making?
In this section we consider whether the Fund:
▪ has an appropriate governance structure
▪ has people with the appropriate level of knowledge and skills
▪ has people with appropriate behaviours needed to make the governance
effective.

Appropriate governance structure
There is no one 'correct' governance structure. The Administering
Authority's structure should:
▪ have clear terms of reference
▪ have a clearly documented scheme of delegation
▪ allow decision making at the appropriate level
▪ allow quick decision making where appropriate
▪ include appropriate representation from stakeholders
▪ ensure there is sufficient diversity of thought/approach amongst those
tasked with making decisions
▪ involve well-presented information/reports
▪ allow sufficient time for discussion where necessary
▪ have good quality (committee) administration (e.g. issuing papers in good
time)
▪ involve a process for managing conflicts
▪ provide transparency to stakeholders where appropriate.
These elements are considered in this section.

The function of the PC

 The Gloucestershire County Council Constitution (part 3.4) states that:
"The purpose of the Pensions Committee is to give advice on the proper
management of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund and carry out the
function of the Council as Administering Authority."
The Constitution then sets out the key duties of the PC and how the PC
membership is made up (see comments on this below).

 In relation to the key duties these are also included within the Fund's

Governance Policy Statement although we note that one duty set out in the
Constitution is not currently included within the Terms of Reference set out
in the Governance Policy Statement.

Aon

29

Page 83

Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making?

This is as follows:
"To undertake such tasks as the Committee thinks appropriate to progress
implementation of investment pooling, and to take such decisions and do
all other things deemed necessary in order to promote the interests of the
County Council with respect to investment pooling, which without limitation
shall include agreeing and authorising any documentation, contracts, terms
of reference, financial expenditure or investment that may be required
consequential upon the County Council’s participation in the Brunel
Pension Partnership."
We recommend that the Governance Policy Statement is updated to
ensure that it is consistent with the latest wording in the Constitution as part
of its next review.

 We note that the duties of the PC set out in the Constitution are
relatively wide ranging. However, one observation we do have is that the
majority of the duties are investment focused, and there is limited reference
to duties relating to administration, communication and governance
matters. We recognise this is covered by point 3 of the duties of the PC in
part 3.4 of the Constitution, which refers to considering any other matter
relevant to the proper operation and management of the Fund. However,
this could be made more explicit, and you might want to consider including
a number of other explicit non-investment duties as well. For example,
there is no explicit mention of areas such as agreeing and monitoring the
Administration Strategy, Communications Policy or the Fund's business
plan and budget (other than the PB's). This latter point is a key
recommendation in the SAB Good Governance review. We therefore
recommend a review of the duties of the PC as set out in the Constitution.

The function of the PB

 We note that the responsibilities of the PB are clearly stated in the
Council's Constitution, the Governance Policy and are consistent with the
LGPS regulations. We note that the Terms of Reference includes all the
key points that we would expect to see included, subject to our comments
below about the number of meetings each year which the Terms of
Reference currently states will be no less than twice per annum.

Clearly documented Scheme of Delegation

 The Council’s Scheme of Delegation is clearly set out in Section 5 of

Part 3 of the Constitution. As with all Councils, the Constitution includes
elements such as Financial regulations. There are very few specific
mentions in relation to pension fund matters and therefore we assume
some of the generic areas contained within those elements apply equally to
the pension fund management. The specific mentions that do exist are very
broad – for example, the Executive Director of Corporate Resources is
responsible for “the functions, duties or powers of the Pensions Committee”
in consultation with the Chair of the Pensions Committee for all decisions
with financial implications over £250,000, and also “to operate the Local
Government Superannuation Regulations, including the exercise of
discretion under those Regulations”. We recommend revisiting these two
points to ensure they are understood and clear (for example, the point
relating to exercising discretion under the regulations should refer to the

30

Aon

Page 84

Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making?

correct regulations, be clear about it being administering authority
discretions, and also be aligned with the Discretionary Policy).
There is also reference to the Assistant Director of Legal Services being
the adjudicator for disputes under the Local Government Pension Scheme.
This needs to be updated to clarify whether this is in relation to Stage 1 or
Stage 2 of the Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure for the Fund.
We acknowledge that on a day to day basis many of the operational
aspects within these procedure rules will be delegated to officers such as
the Head of Pensions. As this is a high-level review, we have not
considered this onward delegation, how it is formally delegated or any
financial controls relating to it, but you might want to consider whether a
more pensions specific Scheme of Delegation with a bit more explicit detail
on specific responsibilities would be useful for the Fund. This could be
approved on an ongoing basis by the PC, and included as part of the
Fund's Governance Policy.
We note that one of the recommendations of the SAB Good Governance
review is that each administering authority must have a single named
officer ("the LGPS senior officer") who is responsible for the delivery of all
LGPS related activity for that fund. Further details of the core requirements
of the LGPS senior officer are included in the SAB Good Governance
report albeit these are still subject to MHCLG's confirmation within statutory
guidance. We recommend that once the MHCLG publishes its statutory
guidance setting out details of how funds should implement the proposals
of the SAB Good Governance review that the Fund reviews its Constitution
and sets out within this who the LGPS senior officer is. However, without
attempting to pre-empt any such review, it would seem to us that in the
case of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund, the Head of Pensions is by far
the most likely role to be appropriate for this LGPS Senior Officer position.

Appropriate representation

 It is good practice for Administering Authorities to allow some
representation for scheme members and employers.

The Constitution states that the PC is made up of:
– Seven County Councillors – with voting rights
– One voting district council representative
– One non-voting scheme member representative
We understand that the number of County Councillors has recently been
increased from 6 to 7. We note that the Governance Policy Statement
currently refers to 6 County Councillors so this should be updated to reflect
the change in the Constitution.
We further note that the Constitution refers to a non-voting scheme
member representative, whereas the Governance Policy Statement states
that this representative also represents pensioners and deferred members.
We suggest that this is clarified in the Constitution as part of a review of the
Constitution that we have recommended.
▪ The PB is made up of:
– Chair (not a Gloucestershire County Councillor)
– Three employer representatives
– Three scheme member representatives

Aon

31

Page 85

Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making?

– One of the employer or member representatives should be a County
Councillor appointed annually at a meeting of Full Council.

 We observe that whilst there is a reasonable range of stakeholders
across these two bodies it is noticeable that the PC has limited
representatives from outside of Gloucestershire County Council. The Fund
has over 200 active employers and we suggest that it is worth considering
whether the PC could have greater representation from other employers in
the Fund. This could include the other borough councils, colleges,
universities, admission bodies, academies / multi academy trusts (noting
that there are a large number of these participating in the Fund) or a
specific sub-set (for example, non-local authority employers). We note that
on other LGPS funds a number of Pension Committees have more than
one employer representative, and that they are nominated by the
employers who participate in the fund (other than the main local
authorities). The SAB Good Governance review has recommended that all
funds be required to produce and publish a policy on the representation of
scheme members and non-administering authorities on committees,
explaining their approach to voting rights for each party.
It is also worth recognising that expanding the membership of the PC could
also assist with the diversity, equality and inclusion aspects of the PC. It
was interesting that within the questionnaire responses there was a belief
that the current PC has a lack of diversity in its members. It was noted that
whilst individual knowledge and backgrounds of the PC members appear to
be diverse, the gender and BAME balance is poor. In addition, it was noted
that there are no pensioner representatives on the current PC.
Whilst recognising that there is no single ‘correct’ structure, and noting that
political factors should not be relevant in PC meetings as pensions is a
non-executive function and there is an overriding fiduciary duty to scheme
members (albeit also noting the fact that PC membership must reflect the
political make-up of the County Council as a whole), we recommend that
the PC increases the number of employer representatives from one to two,
and also considers increasing the number of scheme member
representatives from one to two as well. To maintain the appropriate
representation from the administering authority, we recommend that the
chair and vice-chair are elected from, and voted on by, the County
Councillor members only. These additional non-County Councillor roles
could be either voting or non-voting on all other matters brought to the
Committee. We also note that, as always, this is subject to ensuring that
the Council’s Democratic Services are comfortable that the proposed
changes are fully compliant with their understanding of how the PC should
be constituted.

Sufficient diversity of thought/approach amongst those tasked
with making decisions

 We have not specifically considered this as part of this review but given
the increasing focus on diversity, equality and inclusion (and also we note it
is included in TPR's draft New Code), we think this is an area the Fund
should consider further for both the PC and PB (and also within the officer
teams). Diversity is not just about gender or race, and so it is important to

32

Aon

Page 86

Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making?

also consider wider aspects such as diversity of thought and approach to
decision making. We believe this is an area the Fund should consider
further as part of a skills analysis (perhaps linked to the training needs
analysis we recommend later in this report).

Appropriate level of decision making and quick decision
making where appropriate
It is important that decisions are made at the appropriate level and that the
governance structure is flexible enough to ensure that decisions can be
made in a timely manner.

 The PC is the main body with responsibility for making decisions for the
Fund and as part of this review, we have not identified any concerns
around how decisions are made at the PC. The questionnaire responses
are generally positive around the way that decisions are made.

 However as mentioned previously, you might want to consider whether

to develop a more pensions specific Scheme of Delegation with more
explicit detail on specific responsibilities would be useful for the Fund. This
could be approved on an ongoing basis by the PC, and included as part of
the Fund's Governance Policy. Examples of what this might include would
be how urgent matters are decided between meetings or responses to
Consultations which also do not fit with meeting cycles, and what
information is captured to report back to the next PC meeting.

Pension Committee

 We observed that the PC meeting was well chaired, and this was

echoed in the responses to the questionnaire where all respondents stated
that the meetings are well chaired. However, we note that this was the last
meeting for the current chair so it will be important that the new chair is
given appropriate support to ensure that the meetings continue to be as
efficient and effective.

 We note that the responses to the questionnaire were generally positive
in relation to the efficiency of the meetings and the way that decisions are
made. All respondents stated that the level of discussion at the meetings
was about right. Two out of the five respondents did state that sometimes
they feel there is insufficient opportunity to ask questions or raise concerns
but none of them stated that they feel inhibited about asking questions at
the meetings so perhaps the insufficient opportunity relates to a lack of
time. All respondents stated that the recommendations are appropriately
discussed ahead of making a decision. This is consistent with what we
observed at the March meeting.

Pension Board

 We observed that the PB meeting was well chaired, and this was

echoed in the responses to the questionnaire where all respondents stated
that the meetings are well chaired.

 However, we observed very limited participation from the PB members
at the meeting we attended. We noted that half of the members did not
speak during the meeting and another member only spoke once. This
meant that only a limited number of members contributed to the meeting.
We recognise that this was the first meeting for a number of members, and
they hadn't received induction training in advance of the meeting. We would
therefore expect participation to be a bit less engaging at this meeting than
would ’normally’ be the case. We therefore suggest that the Chair monitors
this with a view to encouraging greater interaction, because if this
Aon

33

Page 87

Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making?

continues to happen regularly at PB meetings even after members have
undertaken appropriate training, this would raise concerns about the
engagement of the PB and the appropriateness of any decisions being
made by the PB.

 The responses to the questionnaire were generally positive in relation to

the efficiency of the meetings. However, we note that only 3 of the 7 PB
members completed the questionnaire so it is possible that the results of
the questionnaire do not fully reflect the views of the whole PB. This is also
indicative of the lack of engagement shown in the meeting itself, and
suggests that not all PB members are as enthusiastic about their role as we
would ideally like – we recommend that ways to improve PB engagement /
commitment should be considered further.

 In the questionnaire responses all three respondents stated that they

are given sufficient opportunity to ask questions although one respondent
did state that meetings are sometimes dominated by certain individuals.

 We are aware that some PB members have attended PC meetings in

the past. We strongly encourage PB members to continue to attend PC
meetings, and that they take the opportunity to ask (appropriate) questions
within those meetings. We also recommend that PB minutes (or a short
summary report) are taken to PC meetings for information / consideration.

 We note that the PB meeting was a public meeting. Legally, the PB

meetings do not have to follow local authority requirements, and as such
we wondered whether consideration could be given to having non-public
PB meetings as we thought that the formalities of a public meeting may
have put off some members from fully participating in the meeting. We
observe that for some other LGPS Funds non-public PB meetings have a
greater level of engagement.

Well-presented information/reports
Pension Committee

 Information and reports are provided to the PC by the officers and

various advisers. As mentioned in the previous section the quarterly update
report presented by the Head of Pensions has recently been updated.
Positive comments on this report were made within the PC and within the
responses to the questionnaire, and our view is also that the information
and reports are well constructed and presented. In addition, when
observing the PC in March 2021, we were pleased to see a high level of
interaction between PC members, officers and advisers.

 This view is backed up by the findings of the questionnaire, with the

majority of responses saying that all officers and advisers were
understandable, and that the information presented within the reports or
with reports was "about right". However, we feel that it is worth pulling out a
couple of points made in the questionnaires. These are as follows:



One respondent stated that it would be helpful to have more executive
summaries of the information provided, with more detailed information
provided behind them, enabling readers to more quickly review the
reports whilst still being able to delve deeper if required.



Two out of the five respondents stated that they sometimes don't
understand the information provided by Officers in relation to
Governance. As mentioned later, we are recommending a training
needs analysis be carried out to identify specific areas where there is

34

Aon

Page 88

Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making?

lack of knowledge, and this should be considered as part of an ongoing
training plan.


Two out of the five respondents stated that they feel that they could do
with seeing Officers involved in administration / operations more often,
which comes back to the points made earlier about PC meetings
historically being too focussed on investment matters at the expense of
other areas.

 The responses to the questionnaire were generally positive in relation to
how well the PC meetings have moved to being virtual.

 We note that a number of responses to the questionnaire state that
communication from the Brunel Pension Partnership is poor. The
responses included a view that generally there was lack of communication
from the Brunel Pension Partnership and a separate response stated that
when the PC are provided with information from BPP via a presentation
there can be a lack of opportunity to ask questions.
Pension Board

 At the March meeting that we observed, the Head of Pensions provided
a clear and concise summary of pension fund updates and presented the
reports extremely well. This had quite a strong focus on investments but did
cover administration and current pension hot topics as well.

 We recommend that non-investment topics are given sufficient time and
focus by the PB. This is of particular importance for the PB given that their
key role, as set out in their Terms of Reference, is to ensure compliance
with the LGPS regulations and any other legislation and guidance relating
to the governance and administration of the fund. The PB do not legally
have any responsibility in relation to investment matters (albeit it is
recognised that there is a role in relation to governance of all matters
including investments).
Sufficient time for discussion
Pension Committee

 Based on the meeting we observed and the responses to the
questionnaire, there generally appears to be appropriate time to discuss all
the items on the agenda in an appropriate level of detail.

 However, we do note that in the responses to the questionnaire it was
noted that certain areas could be looked at in more detail if more time was
available, including monitoring of the Brunel Pension Partnership and also
environmental issues and their impact of investment. In relation to the latter
point we note that Responsible Investment Reporting and a review of the
Fund's Responsible Investment Policy forms a key part of the Fund's
2021/22 business plan so we assume that sufficient time will be given to
this very topical and complex area in future meetings.
Pension Board

 We note that the PB currently meet only twice a year and the meetings
generally last around 2 hours. Although this is in line with the minimum
number of meetings set out in their Terms of Reference, our personal view

Aon

35

Page 89

Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making?

is that (and based on what we see at other LGPS Funds) we do not think
that this is sufficient, and may help to explain the apparent lack of
engagement of the PB members. TPR has also publicly stated that they
recommend that there are four PB meetings a year. We note however, that
in the March 2021 meeting it was proposed that the PB moves to quarterly
meetings. There was an action from the meeting to see how this could be
best implemented. We would strongly support this change. We recommend
that the PB also considers whether it would be useful to also extend the
length of the meetings, although we do note that the three respondents of
the survey did state that they thought the length of the meetings was about
right. It might therefore be better to focus on the move to quarterly
meetings for now, and if that doesn’t appear to help then the meeting
length could be extended at a later date if necessary.

Good quality (committee) administration

 In common with most local authorities, the Administering Authority
appear to be very good at administration with:

▪ all reports being issued at least five working days in advance of meetings,
▪ minutes signed off as a true record by the PC,
▪ well laid out reports with clear recommendations, and
▪ meeting agenda, reports and minutes available on the Council's website.
Although the reports are all issued at least five working days in advance of
meetings, we recommend considering any large reports or significant
matters are, where possible, communicated earlier than this to ensure
appropriate time for consideration. This was mentioned in the responses to
the questionnaire.

Managing conflicts of interest
Pension Committee
Each Gloucestershire County Council elected member and any co-opted
member is required to declare and register any pecuniary and nonpecuniary interested using methods the County Council has provided, as
well as removing themselves from positions of influence when an interest is
apparent.
However, there will be examples whereby a member does not have a clear
pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest as defined by the Council's Code of
Conduct, but instead has a personal or professional conflict of interest that
needs to be managed appropriately (for example, having separate
responsibility for an employer who participates in the Fund).
In this example, there may be circumstances where it is necessary for PC
members (administering authority elected members) to balance their
employing authority responsibilities (e.g. maintaining local service
provision) against their administering authority responsibilities (e.g.
ensuring appropriate payments by all employers into the Fund). This could
potentially extend to political views whereby some councillors may have
different views than other councillors from differing political parties, for
example, in relation to investment in local infrastructure or environmental,
social and governance (ESG) matters. The potential for interests that could

36

Aon

Page 90

Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making?

conflict with Fund matters, and this ultimate responsibility, should always
be recognised and managed appropriately. A Fund Conflicts of Interest
Policy could ensure this point is clear to all involved. It is, however, worth
highlighting that this would not necessarily require individuals to be
removed from meetings and/or decision making.

 We note that the Fund does not currently have a Conflicts of Interest
Policy in place. As mentioned earlier in the policy review section of this
report, although this is not (yet) explicit in legislation, we believe that it
would be good practice to have a Fund specific Conflicts of Interest Policy
applying to all stakeholders, and this is mentioned as part of the CIPFA
annual report guidance. This should highlight differences between the
Council's requirements in relation to declarations for elected members and
officers as well as ensuring other parties (observers and advisers) are fully
aware of expectations.
We note that one of the key recommendations of the SAB Good
Governance review is that each Fund must produce and publish a Conflicts
of Interest Policy.

 Responses to the questionnaire in relation to conflicts of interest were a
bit mixed. Two of the five respondents stated that they understood conflicts
of interest in relation to pension fund matters and it has been clearly
explained to them, two of the five respondents stated that they understood
conflicts of interest in relation to pension fund matters but it has not been
specifically explained to them and one respondent stated that he didn't
understand conflicts of interest in relation to pension fund matters as it has
not been explained to him. We recommend specific training on this to
ensure all members have the correct level of understanding in this area.
 Clearly there are some positive elements in relation to the existing
arrangements and it was pleasing that in the March 2021 meeting we
observed that a member of the PC did declare a potential conflict of interest
in relation to an agenda item and this was well managed by the Chair.
However, we believe this is an area that could be improved upon,
particularly in relation to potential conflicts of interest that are Fund specific
and may not therefore be highlighted through the Council's Conflict of
Interest Policy. The CIPFA Guidance for LGPS Funds in Preparing the
Annual Report refers to the information contained within the Fund's
Governance Compliance Statement including their "policy and processes
for managing any conflicts of interest". It is also a key area of interest for
both the Scheme Advisory Board and in The Pension Regulator's
Guidance, albeit more focussed on PB members.
Clearly this is not a legal requirement but, as mentioned earlier in this
report, we encourage the Administering Authority to develop a Fund
specific policy outlining how conflicts of interest will be managed and dealt
with at a Fund level. This could include reference to:
▪ the Council's Code of Conduct
▪ how it relates to co-optees and observers
▪ examples of Fund specific potential conflicts of interest

Aon

37

Page 91

Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making?

▪ how conflicts of interest (and potential conflicts of interest) will be
managed
▪ guidance for officers and advisers of the Fund to also adhere to.

Pension Board

 The Terms of Reference for the PB states that the principles included in
the County Council's Member Code of Conduct applies to all members of
the PB and states that the County Council's Conflicts of Interest policy shall
apply to members of the PB. This is a requirement for PBs within Scheme
Advisory Board guidance and in The Pensions Regulator's Code.
However, as stated above we recommend that the Fund has its own
Conflicts of Interest policy that applies to all stakeholders. This should
include the PB.
We recommend that this policy is complemented by periodic training in
relation to Fund specific conflicts of interest, as mentioned above, as well
as being compulsory for new PC and PB members as well as Fund officers.

Transparency to Stakeholders
As with all public services, it is important that stakeholders have
appropriate access to Fund information, including regarding the
governance of the Fund. In this regard the Administering Authority's
activities are appropriately driven by local authority legislation, for example:
▪ the requirement to provide public access to meetings (except for exempt
items), and
▪ the requirement that all reports, agendas and minutes are to be published
(except for exempt information).
In addition, the LGPS regulations require each Administering Authority to
produce and publish an annual report and accounts providing key financial
information, management information and strategies. This requirement is
enhanced by the (non-statutory) CIPFA Guidance for LGPS Funds in
Preparing the Annual Report.

 Our observations are that the Administering Authority demonstrates
compliance with all of these requirements as well as stakeholder
involvement being enhanced through the PC and PB membership.

 As mentioned earlier in this report we recommend that the Fund
considers setting up its own website rather than occupying part of the
Council’s website. This would make it easier for stakeholders to obtain
information about the Fund, and when considering this, the Fund should
consider good practice relating to diversity, equality and inclusion. This
website could then include clear links to the following information relating to
the governance of the Fund:
▪ all of the Fund's key strategies and policies
▪ the Annual Report and Accounts
▪ links to PC reports, agendas and minutes.

38

Aon

Page 92

Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making?

Generally, there are few items that are considered exempt from the public
at PC meetings, such as items related to manager monitoring and
employer updates. We are observing less manager monitoring papers
being exempt at PCs, and so recommend that the Council continues to
review whether this is necessary. Any proposed change may require the
Council to speak to any consultants preparing this information to help them
understand the legal requirements around when papers should be exempt.

Skills and knowledge
A critical element of good governance is the need for those managing the
Fund to have the appropriate level of knowledge and skills. The current
requirements relating to training of PC members and officers of LGPS
Funds are included in the following documents:
▪ CIPFA Code of Practice on public sector pensions finance knowledge
and skills
▪ CIPFA Knowledge and Skills Framework – Elected representatives and
non-executives
▪ CIPFA Knowledge and Skills Framework - Officers
As mentioned previously, new versions of these CIPFA documents are due
to be released imminently. In addition, Scheme Advisory Board's Guidance
and The Pensions Regulator's Code of Practice, (albeit focussed on PB
knowledge and skills legal requirements), highlight the need for the
Administering Authority to have appropriate policies and procedures in
place to ensure a high level of knowledge and skills.
Though adhering to the CIPFA documents is not statutory, the Code is a
professional standard and therefore should be complied with. The
frameworks are considered good practice. There is increasing acceptance
of the need for high levels of knowledge as well as increasing scrutiny of
this by PC members and officers. The key elements of the CIPFA
requirements are that Administering Authorities:
▪ clearly articulate the knowledge and skills requirements in a Fund policy
▪ provide ongoing training in an effective and suitable manner to meet
those requirements
▪ regularly review whether knowledge aspirations are being met
▪ ensure that they rely appropriately on officers and advisers to provide
expert knowledge.
These elements are considered in this section. Our focus within this section
is on the requirements relating to PC and PB members.
In addition, we note that a recommendation of the SAB Good Governance
review is to introduce a requirement for key individuals within the LGPS,
including LGPS officers and PC members, to have the appropriate level of
knowledge and understanding to carry out their duties effectively. Within
this recommendation there are then some further details including a
requirement for s151 officers to carry out LGPS relevant training as part of
their CPD requirements, and for administering authorities to publish a

Aon

39

Page 93

Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making?

policy setting out their approach to the delivery, assessment and recoding
of training plans.
Before drilling down into the detail though, it is worth highlighting that the
results of the questionnaire do show that some respondents consider their
role on the PC to be difficult and stressful at times. This highlights the
importance of providing good quality ongoing training.

Clearly articulated knowledge and skills requirements in a
Fund policy

 As mentioned in the policy review section, the Administering Authority
has a Training Strategy that was very recently put in place in April 2021.
This sets out the Fund's policy in relation to training covering the PC, PB,
Fund officers and participating employers. We were very pleased to see
that this strategy has been recently implemented. It will be important to
ensure that the policy is fully bedded in over time, and fully bought into by
all members. The officers will then need to keep track of the training
undertaken and ensure that the Training Strategy is kept under regular
review. We note that a Training Plan for 2021/2022 to 2022/23 has been
drafted.
Pension Committee

 The responses to the questionnaire in relation to training were largely
positive. Four of the five respondents stated that they are either given
sufficient training or almost given sufficient training with one or two areas
requiring more training. One respondent has just become involved in the
PC and hasn't been provided with any training yet, but we assume that a
plan is in place for this member to be given appropriate training. The areas
highlighted where some more training may be required are as follows:


Update on legislative changes (the response noted that sometimes
there can be a bit of a time lag between legislative changes being
made and training on them being provided)



Refresher on investment theory (the response suggested that the
option of a yearly refresher would be helpful)



Risk register (the response stated that it would be useful to get some
training on the individual items rather than just the importance of having
one)



Employer responsibilities.

Pension Board

 The responses to the questionnaire in relation to training were mixed.
One respondent stated that they feel that they are given sufficient training,
one respondent stated that that feel that they are almost given sufficient
training but one or two areas could do with more training, whilst one
respondent who was relatively new to the PB stated that no training has
been provided since the member has joined the PB. The lack of training
was highlighted by a PB member at the March 2021 meeting that we
observed.

40

Aon

Page 94

Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making?

 We have been provided with a spreadsheet summarising the training
sessions attended by members of the PC, PB and Officers. For the PB
members no training is shown after 2018. We are unsure if this is because
no training for PB members has taken place since 2018 or that these
records are not up to date. Either way we recommend that this is reviewed
to ensure that sufficient training is provided to PB members. It is also
important to ensure that not only is the training being monitored, but that it
ties in with the relevant competencies.

Providing ongoing training in an effective and suitable manner
to meet those requirements
We believe it is important to provide a wide range of training opportunities
to PC and PB members via a range of different approaches. For example,
in addition to ensuring that PC members are aware of all the key elements
of managing the Fund, we believe it is important that they have the
opportunity to learn about areas that the Administering Authority may not
currently be focussed on. A key skill of a good PC member is to be able to
identify where information is not provided in reports, and therefore to be
able to ask questions relating to alternative options that are not under
consideration (i.e. turning the unknown unknowns into known unknowns).
Pension Committee

 It was noted in the responses to the questionnaire that training
opportunities over the past 12 months were a bit limited due to the
pandemic, which is understandable. Face to face training sessions were
generally seen as the most useful training method, but the respondents
were generally positive to most methods of providing training. We note that
over the past 12 months, four out of the five respondents had made use of
internal training (and the one other respondent is a new member) but only
one member had attended either an external training session, conference,
on-line training or telephone conference briefing. We appreciate that it has
been difficult over the past 12 months but we are aware of a number of
conferences and external training sessions that have taken place virtually
so it is important to ensure that all PC members feel that they are given
sufficient information and opportunity to attend these sessions.
Pension Board

 Similar views were generally provided by the PB with respondents
stating that training opportunities over the past 12 months have been
limited due to the pandemic. One respondent stated that training sessions
were previously provided alongside PC but that these have not happened
for a while.
Both

 The draft Training Plan appears to include a good number of training
opportunities and ensures that the training covers the CIPFA requirements,
is in line with the Fund's business plan and covers current issues including
the SAB Good Governance review, ESG and Responsible Investment
compliance and the latest developments within the Brunel Pension
Partnership.

Aon

41

Page 95

Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making?

 We note that, in common with many other LGPS Funds, the focus of the
draft Training Plan is on PC and PB members, rather than officers. Clearly
officers' skills sometimes need to be at quite a different level than PC and
PB members. We note that officers are included in the Fund's Training
Strategy and we recommend that officers also regularly attend external
events which we consider to be useful to maintaining appropriate
knowledge.
We further note that in the Training attendance spreadsheet that we have
been provided with the only officer shown is Matthew Trebilcock. We
recommend that training records of all Fund officers is included in this
spreadsheet.

Regularly review whether knowledge aspirations are being met

 The draft Training Plan does attempt to focus the planned future
training on areas such as the CIPFA knowledge and skills framework, the
Business Plan and other current important topics, and in this regard is a
huge improvement in how the Fund focusses its training. However, as
mentioned above, it is not just about planning future training – it is also
critically important to ensure that historic and ongoing training is monitored
and assessed accordingly (across all PC members, PB members and
Officers) to:


ensure it is understood which competencies each person has got, and



to clearly highlight areas where any knowledge gaps lie

so that future training sessions can be appropriately targeted to fill those
gaps. We strongly recommend that a training needs analysis is completed
to identify where any knowledge gaps lie so that future training sessions
can be appropriately targeted to fill those gaps as well as any
competencies that have not been previously covered.

Rely appropriately on officers and advisers to provide expert
knowledge
Given very few PC members are pension professionals, it would generally
be risky for PC members to make decisions on their own purely based on
the training given to them. The Administering Authority therefore provides a
wide range of experts for the PC members to tap into; officers, consultants
and an independent investment adviser, as well as also engaging with
Fund Managers to utilise their expertise.
Pension Committee

 We observed that the input from the Head of Pensions at the March
2021 PC meeting was very positive with extremely useful and clear
introductions to each report. As previously mentioned, the updated
quarterly report was well received by members and this was echoed in the
responses to the questionnaire.

42

Aon

Page 96

Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making?

 It is not clear to the extent that the PC have sight of other officers, e.g.
Chief Finance Officer (S151 officer), Director of Finance, Head of
Administration etc. One respondent to the questionnaire noted that the PC
rarely have any direct contract or briefings from the Head of Administration
of the Fund and feel like this may be useful.

Behaviour
A good governance structure will not be effective unless it involves the right
people with the right attitude. Individuals should:
▪ have a high level of attendance at meetings and training
▪ demonstrate integrity in relation to their Fund role
▪ be engaged and provide appropriate challenge
▪ be accountable for the decisions made
▪ highlight any potential conflicts they may have
▪ for a Chairperson, manage the meetings fairly without any bias to
individuals or self and enable all attendees to express their views or
opinions openly
▪ prepare adequately for meetings.
These elements are considered in this section. Much of the information
derives from observations of the PC and PB at the March 2021 meetings. It
also captures particular themes from the Questionnaire completed by PC
and PB members.

Attendance at Meetings
Pension Committee

 The PC meeting in March 2021 was well attended with all but one PC

member present. We have been provided with PC attendance records
since 2010 and these demonstrate strong ongoing attendance historically
as well. PC members should note that they are required to show high levels
of attendance to both PC meetings and any training organised for them.

Pension Board

 The PB meeting in March 2021 was well attended. The attendance

records appear to be incomplete for the 2019 and 2020 meetings, so we
are unsure of the general level of attendance at these meetings.

General Behaviour
This element can be easily aligned with the General Principles of Public
Life which are adopted by Gloucestershire County Council as part of their
members' Code of Conduct. These principles are:
1. Selflessness
2. Integrity
3. Objectivity
4. Accountability
5. Openness
6. Honesty

Aon

43

Page 97

Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making?

7. Leadership
and they also apply to co-opted members.
There is always a danger that decisions are made by PC without full and
appropriate discussion, debate and challenge. Equally there is a risk that
too much time can be spent on matters of little importance/value.
Pension Committee

 From our observations at the PC meeting, we could recognise the

above principles being applied by PC members and officers and felt that
the balance of discussion was good. Some specific observations are:
▪ Members demonstrated respect for officers and advisers asking
questions and allowed appropriate time to hear their views, as well
acknowledging the workloads of officers.
▪ Almost all members contributed actively to the discussions and the
discussions felt very well balanced. There seemed to be a very good
level of understanding from all members. This was particularly the case
on the investment side, and we have noted previously in this report that
the PC should ensure that sufficient time and importance is given to other
areas, including funding, administration, governance and
communications.
▪ Politics were kept out of the discussions to a large extent, which is
important given that, as mentioned earlier, pensions is a non-executive
function and there is an overriding fiduciary duty to scheme members.
▪ Members showed good understanding of conflicts of interest and one
member declared a potential conflict in relation to one agenda item. The
Chairman considered this and concluded that there was no need for the
member to leave the discussion at this point. This was handled very well
by all parties.
▪ The Chairman demonstrated strong chairing skills, although as noted
previously the Chairman has now stepped down from his role.
▪ The Chairman was clear in ensuring the recommendations were agreed
prior to moving onto the next agenda item.

 Given that the Chair of the PC is changing, along with a number of the

PC members, it is important that the current high level of adherence to the
key behaviours set out above continues to be monitored.

Pension Board

 From our observations at the PB meeting, we could recognise at times
the above principles generally being applied by PB members. However, as
mentioned previously a number of the members of the PB did not speak
during the meeting and we were therefore concerned about the
engagement of these members and also worried about the balance of
discussions. We do think the PB could provide greater value to the Fund if
this aspect is improved and the PB are reminded that their responsibilities
include the behavioural aspects as highlighted above.

44

Aon

Page 98

Governance Review | Effectiveness Questionnaires

Effectiveness
Questionnaires
As part of any governance review, it is also extremely helpful to understand
the views of those involved with the governance of the Fund. An
effectiveness questionnaire was therefore given to all the PC members
which focussed on the effectiveness of the PC. A separate questionnaire
was also issued to PB members relating to the effectiveness of the PB.
The questionnaires considered areas such as the length of the meetings,
how topics are presented, whether the members feel confident when
making recommendations or decisions and how well they feel they
understand risk and strategy.
The PC questionnaire was completed by 5 persons (out of a possible 8),
and the PB questionnaire was completed by only 3 persons (out of a
possible 7). Both completion figures were slightly disappointing, particularly
the PB figure. We appreciate that the questionnaire is quite detailed, but we
believe that to get the most out of this exercise the Fund needs to capture
as much information as possible and obtain views from the vast majority of
PC and PB members.
The results of the questionnaire from those who did respond have been
analysed and the results are included in Appendix B. We have also
included a number of comments on this in the previous sections, and
further observations are included within this section. These tend to relate to
areas where similar comments have been received from multiple people,
evidencing consistency in views.

Pension Committee
Overall, the responses from the PC were very positive about the level of
discussion as well as the belief by all of respondents that the PC adds
value. Also, there was a strong positive view about the Chair of the PC
(albeit that individual has now retired from his position).
There are a number of areas where common views were expressed and
we suggest are considered part of any action plan arising from this report,
include:
▪ There was a view that sufficient time is not necessarily given to
administration, communications, governance and funding, as there has
been a tendency to focus on investment matters.
▪ There was a view that the communication and involvement from the
Brunel Pension Partnership could be improved.
▪ There was a belief that the current PC has a lack of diversity in its
members. It was noted that whilst individual knowledge and backgrounds
of the PC members appear to be diverse, the gender and BAME balance

Aon

45

Page 99

Governance Review | Effectiveness Questionnaires

is poor. In addition, it was noted that there are no pensioner
representatives on the current PC.
▪ Responses from PC members suggested there is a strong understanding
of risk management, noting the risk register is discussed and reviewed at
every PC meeting.
▪ Two of the five respondents stated that they sometimes feel there is
insufficient opportunity to ask questions or raise concerns at meetings.
As noted above, there was a fairly low response rate to the questionnaire
for PC members, which could also suggest a possible lack of
engagement (which we appreciate could be due to a lack of time). We
recommend that a focus is placed on ensuring all members are
encouraged to actively participate in meetings and Fund related events.
▪ Responses from PC members suggested there was limited opportunity to
catch up when members missed a meeting, with three of the respondents
stating that they did not think there was an opportunity to catch up and
the other two respondents stating that they thought there was appropriate
opportunity to catch up but that they didn't tend to utilise that opportunity.
▪ Responses from PC members suggested that a lack of time to properly
absorb and process the large amount of information provided is a
concern, and there was a suggestion that a better way to gain secure
access to the information at home would be very helpful.
▪ Responses from PC members suggested that training opportunities had
been limited over the past 12 months. There was suggestion that a
programme of refresher training would be very helpful.

Pension Board
With the limited number of responses to our questionnaire it is difficult to
draw accurate conclusions from our questionnaire. However, based on the
3 responses received we believe the overall view from PB members is
positive about their role on the PB and engagement at meetings and
accessibility of information.
There are a number of areas where common views were expressed and
we suggest are considered as part of any action plan arising from this
report, including:
▪ Some of the respondents noted that training could be increased,
particularly for new members, with PB members noting that training has
reduced over the past 12 months, presumably due to the pandemic. It
was further noted that there were some concerns about the level of
training provided in advance of reports being submitted.
▪ Based on the number of responses to our questionnaire, we are
concerned that the engagement of the PB is low. We did ourselves
observe a lack of engagement by many PB members at the meeting. We
therefore recommend that a focus is placed on ensuring all members are
encouraged to actively participate in meetings to aid the PB in its role.

46

Aon

Page 100

Governance Review | Effectiveness Questionnaires

Conclusions
Our overall conclusion is that the governance of the Fund is of a good
standard in many areas, meets legal requirements in the matters we
have considered, and in a number of areas the Administering Authority
is demonstrating best practice. We note that significant improvements
in relation to the governance of the Fund appear to have been made
over the past year or so with a number of policies being put in place
over this period, including a Training Strategy and Risk Register, along
with enhancements to the reports provided to the Pension Committee
and the Fund's Business plan.
We have made a number of recommendations for further
improvements that could be made, and these are set out in the 'At a
glance…' section at this start of this report.
We recommend that the Administering Authority considers and
discusses the recommendations set out in this report. We further
recommend that an action plan is developed in relation to implementing
these recommendations, in order that progress can be monitored on an
ongoing basis.
We look forward to answering any questions in relation to the report,
and particularly any areas where we have highlighted that
improvements could be made.
Finally, we would like to thank the officers and members of the PC and
PB for their assistance throughout this review.
▪

Aon

47

Page 101

Governance Review | Further information

Further information

48

Aon

Page 102

Governance Review | Appendix A – Reference Material

Appendix A – Reference
Material
This appendix lists the various documents that were
considered as part of this Governance Review.
▪ Investment Strategy Statement (ISS) (March 2021)
▪ Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) (March 2021)
▪ Governance Policy Statement (February 2020)
▪ Governance Compliance Statement (July 2017)
▪ Communications Policy Statement (August 2018)
▪ Pension Administration Strategy (April 2017)
▪ Gloucestershire County Council Constitution (October 2020)
▪ Terms of Reference Pension Committee
▪ Terms of Reference Pension Board
▪ Risk register (March 2021)
▪ Draft Pension Fund Training Plan (2021/2022 – 2022/2023)
▪ Training Strategy (April 2021)
▪ Policy for Reporting Breaches of the Law (not dated but we understand it
was last reviewed in 2016)
▪ Administering Authority Discretions (September 1999)
▪ Actuarial valuation report as at 31 March 2019 (dated March 2020)
▪ Business Plan 2021-22
▪ Pension Committee and Pension Board meeting papers

Aon

49

Page 103

Governance Review | Appendix B – Effectiveness Questionnaires

Appendix B –
Effectiveness
Questionnaires
We show below the results of the effectiveness questionnaires. The results
are split between the PC questionnaire and the PB questionnaire. The bars
in the graphs below are colour coded to highlight particularly positive or
negative answers. A key is provided on each page.

50

Aon

Page 104

Aon

Pension Committee: Effectiveness of meetings

Page 105

Governance Review | Effectiveness Questionnaires

51

Governance Review | Effectiveness Questionnaires

52

Pension Committee: Accessibility, Format and Usefulness of Information

Page 106
Aon

Aon

Page 107

Governance Review | Effectiveness Questionnaires

53

Governance Review | Effectiveness Questionnaires

54

Pension Committee: Knowledge and Understanding

Page 108

Aon

Aon

Pension Committee: Administration of Meetings

Page 109

Governance Review | Effectiveness Questionnaires

55

Governance Review | Effectiveness Questionnaires

56

Pension Committee: Governance Structure

Page 110

Aon

Aon

Pension Committee: Vision for the Future

Page 111

Governance Review | Effectiveness Questionnaires

57

Governance Review | Effectiveness Questionnaires

58

Page 112

Pension Committee: Compliance

Aon

Aon

Pension Committee: Business Planning

Page 113

Pension Committee: Risk management

Governance Review | Effectiveness Questionnaires

59

Governance Review | Effectiveness Questionnaires

60

Pension Committee Summary and final comments

Page 114

Aon

Aon

Pension Board: Effectiveness of Meetings
Pension Board: Effectiveness of Meetings
0

1

2

3

Do you find the length of the Pension Board meetings:
Do you find the level of discussion at the meetings:
Do you feel the meetings are ever rushed?
Do you feel meetings revisit old ground, having the same discussions more than once?
Do you feel you are given sufficient opportunity to ask questions or raise concerns at
meetings?
Do you ever feel inhibited about asking questions or raising concerns at meetings?
Do you feel any questions you ask or concerns you raise are, on the whole, sufficiently
considered and dealt with?

Page 115

On the whole, are the meetings chaired well?
Do you feel the meetings are dominated by certain individuals?

Good

Acceptable

Concern

Don't Know

61

Governance Review | Effectiveness Questionnaires

Do you feel there are key areas of business that are not being considered by the Board
which should be?
Is there appropriate opportunity to catch up when you've missed a meeting? Do you
utilise this opportunity?
Do you feel you have appropriate opportunity to ask for specific items to be added to the
agenda?
Within the last two years, has the effectiveness of the meetings (as defined by the
questions in this section):

Governance Review | Effectiveness Questionnaires

62

Pension Board: Accessibility, Format and Usefulness of Information

Page 116
Aon

Aon

Pension Board: Knowledge and Understanding

Page 117

Governance Review | Effectiveness Questionnaires

63

Page 118

Pension Board: Governance Structure

Governance Review | Effectiveness Questionnaires

64

Pension Board: Administration of Meetings

Aon

Aon

Pension Board: Pension Fund Compliance

Page 119

Pension Board: Pension Fund Business Planning

Governance Review | Effectiveness Questionnaires

65

Page 120

Pension Board: Summary and further comments

Governance Review | Effectiveness Questionnaires

66

Pension Board: Risk management

Aon

Governance Review | Effectiveness Questionnaires

Daniel Kanaris
Senior Consultant

Karen McWilliam
Partner

Scott Campbell FIA
Senior Consultant

0117 900 4447
daniel.kanaris@aon.com

07711016707
karen.mcwilliam@aon.com

0117 900 4412
scott.campbell.2@aon.com

Aon plc (NYSE:AON) is a leading global professional services firm providing a broad range of risk,
retirement and health solutions. Our 50,000 colleagues in 120 countries empower results for clients by
using proprietary data and analytics to deliver insights that reduce volatility and improve performance.
Copyright © 2021 Aon Solutions UK Limited. All rights reserved. aon.com. Aon Solutions UK Limited is authorised
and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Registered in England & Wales No. 4396810. Registered office:
The Aon Centre | The Leadenhall Building | 122 Leadenhall Street | London | EC3V 4AN. This document and any
enclosures or attachments are prepared on the understanding that they are solely for the benefit of the addressee(s).
Unless we provide express prior written consent no part of this document should be reproduced, distributed or
communicated to anyone else and, in providing this document, we do not accept or assume any responsibility for any
other purpose or to anyone other than the addressee(s) of this document. In this context, “we” includes any Aon
Scheme Actuary appointed by you. To protect the confidential and proprietary information included in this document,
it may not be disclosed or provided to any third parties without the prior written consent of Aon Solutions UK Limited.

Aon

67

Page 121

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
Pension Board
28 July 2021
Governance Review
Report of the Head of Pensions
Summary
At the previous meeting on 9 March 2021, the Board supported a recommendation to
request Aon to undertake a review of the Governance arrangements of the
Gloucestershire Pension Fund. The approach was to compare the Fund and Administering
Authority's practices against the Aon governance framework.
The approach taken has been to compare the Administering Authority’s current practices
(at a high level) against the Aon governance framework.
The framework considers the following key areas:
• Direction – What is the Fund trying to achieve?
o Legislation
o Strategies and Policies
•

Delivery – How does the Fund meet its aims?
o Business Planning
o Performance Monitoring
o Risk Management

•

Decisions – Does the Fund have effective decision making?
o Governance Structure
o Behaviour
o Pensions Skills and Knowledge

The approach carried out has enabled Aon to:
• Examine the existing governance framework and identify the main risks
associated with the governance of the Fund
• Identify whether the Administering Authority has evolved to meet recent
changes in legislation relating to governance matters
• Provide recommended actions to improve the governance of the Fund.
• Assess how the Fund has evolved its governance framework to align with the
new requirements as a result of pooling and the Fund's participation in the
Brunel Pool.
• Comment on whether the Administering Authority have assessed their ability to
meet the requirements of the Pension Regulator's Code of Practice.

Page 123

Agenda Item 7
The review undertaken by Aon involved three key elements which are carried out
concurrently.
•
•
•

Element 1 – Desktop review ✓
o The first stage of the governance review was to carry out a desktop review.
Element 2 – Pension Committee and Pension Board observation ✓
o The meetings of both the Committee and Board in March were observed
Element 3 – Effectiveness questionnaire ✓
o an effectiveness questionnaire will be given to all the existing Pensions
Committee and Board members and officers (and independent advisers)
involved with the Fund.

The governance review is intended to assist the Fund in ensuring it is meeting ever
evolving governance standards and is well placed to adopt the outcomes from the good
governance review being undertaken by the Scheme Advisory Board.
The final report from Aon is attached as Appendix 1 to this report and representatives
from Aon are in attendance to present their findings.

Conclusions
The overall conclusion is that the governance of the Fund is of a good standard in many
areas, meets legal requirements in the matters that have been considered, and in a
number of areas the Administering Authority is demonstrating best practice. Aon note that
significant improvements in relation to the governance of the Fund appear to have been
made recently.
The report also contains commentary and recommendations on areas that require
improvement to meet legal requirements or practices, or could be improved to meet good
practice. These areas are highlighted throughout the report utilizing a RAG rating.
Subject to any comments from the Committee and Board, it is recommended that Officers
continue to work with Aon to draft proposals to implement the report’s recommendations
and present them back to Committee in September and the Board in October.
There was one recommendation which was more appropriate to seek feedback from
Committee on at their meeting on 18 June. This related to the future constitution of this
Committee.
The Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) Good Governance review has recommended that all
Funds be required to produce and publish a policy on the representation of scheme
members and non-administering authorities on Committees, explaining their approach to
voting rights for each party.
The recommendations from Aon reflect this guidance and the significant changes to Fund
membership since the current Committee constitution was agreed. Historically the vast

Page 124

Agenda Item 7
majority of the scheme members were employed by the County Council. The latest figures
for active members indicate that the County Council still remains the largest employer
with around 50% of active members, but the academy sector now also makes up around
30% of the active membership and represent approximately 50% of the 200 employers
participating in the Fund.
Any proposals to widen scheme employer or employee representation on the Committee
to better reflect the membership needs to be considered alongside the legal context for
the Committee. The County Council is recognized within the legislation as the
Administering Authority for the Gloucestershire Pension Fund and is ultimately responsible
for the management and performance of the Fund. As the Committee is established under
local government regulations, membership must reflect the political make up of the
County Council as a whole, with any majority party on the County Council holding the
majority of voting seats on the Committee. It is a result of this point that the last
amendment was made to the size of the Committee to increase membership from 6 to 7
County Councillors.
Although Aon recognize there is no single correct structure, they have included a number
of proposals for the future constitution of the Committee to guide the discussion. The
main proposal reflects an increase from 1 to 2 in employer representation, proposes
consideration of increasing scheme member representation from 1 to 2. The proposals
also consider the right to vote, considering that the majority of decisions made previously
by Committee have not required a formal vote and have been developed through
consensus based on the best interests of the Funds key stakeholders.
Feedback was received from Committee and a request that a further paper be brought
back to the September meeting for consideration of the proposal. Any recommendations
made by the Pensions Committee would need to be taken to the County Councils
Constitution Committee for consideration and approval.

Recommendations
The Board is recommended to
1. Provide any feedback on the findings of the report from Aon
2. Support the Committees request that the Head of Pensions in consultation with Aon
provide draft proposals to implement the report’s recommendations and present
them back to Committee in September 2021, subject to any feedback received in 1)
above and the Board in October 2021.

Contact Officer
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920)

Page 125

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 127

Agenda Item 9

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 133

Agenda Item 10

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 143

Agenda Item 11

This page is intentionally left blank

